
14 January 2020

NOTICE OF MEETING

POLICY AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL
will meet on

Wednesday, 22 January 2020
beginning at

6:45 pm
on the

Rooms 11/12/13, Eastleigh House, Upper Market Street, Eastleigh SO50 9YN

TO: Councillor Richard Gomer (Chair)
Councillor Malcolm Cross (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Janice Asman
Councillor Alan Broadhurst
Councillor Nicholas Couldrey
Councillor Jephthe Doguie
Councillor James Duguid
Councillor Judith Grajewski
Councillor Tim Groves
Councillor Lucy Jurd
Councillor David Pragnell
Councillor Sara Tyson-Payne
Councillor Gin Tidridge

CC: Councillor Keith House Council Leader

Staff Contacts: Claire Brown, Case Management Officer; Tel: 023 8068 8498; 
Email: claire.brown@eastleigh.gov.uk

Natalie Wigman, Corporate Director Tel: 023 8068 8405 
Email: natalie.wigman@eastleigh.gov.uk

GAETANA WISEMAN
Head of Performance and Governance

____________________________________________________________________

Copies of this and all other agendas can be accessed via the 
Council's website - http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/meetings as well as in 

other formats, including Braille, audio, large print and other 
languages, upon request.

Members of the public are invited to speak on general items at the 
start of the meeting, and on individual agenda items at the time the 

item is discussed.  To register please contact the Democratic 
Services Officer above.

Please be aware that Eastleigh Borough Council permits filming, 

Eastleigh House 
Upper Market Street
Eastleigh SO50 9YN

1

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/meetings


sound recording and photography at meetings open to the public, and  
Councillors will be using tablet devices to access committee papers.

AGENDA

1. Apologies    

2. Declarations of Interest     

Members are invited to declare interests in relation to items of business on the 
agenda.  Any interests declared will be recorded in the Minutes.

3. Minutes    (Pages 3 - 6) 

To consider the Minutes of the meeting held on 22 October 2019.

4. Public Participation    

5. Chair's Report    

6. Air Quality Action Plan    (Pages 7 - 76)

7. Corporate Enforcement Strategy    (Pages 77 - 90)

8. Planning Enforcement Performance    (Pages 91 - 114)

9. Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel's Work Programme    (Pages 115 - 118)

10. Cabinet Forward Plan    (Pages 119 - 122)

Your Council’s electronic news service - e-news  -

Register your email address free with the Council and keep up to date with what’s 
happening in the Borough.  Simply select your topics and we will send you email 

updates with news as it happens including new Council Jobs, What’s On, Recycling, 
Transport plus lots more. www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews 

1. FIELD_TITLE

2. FIELD_TITLE

DATE OF NEXT MEETING
Thursday, 30 January 2020 at 7:00 pm

on the Rooms 11/12/13, Eastleigh House, Upper Market Street, Eastleigh SO50 
9YN

2

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews


1

POLICY AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL

Tuesday, 22 October 2019  (6:30 pm – 8:11 pm)

PRESENT:

Councillor Gomer (Chair); Councillors Broadhurst, Asman, Couldrey, 
Doguie, Groves, Tyson-Payne, Grajewski and Tidridge

Also in attendance: Councillors Kyrle, Airey, Campbell, Corben, Dean, 
Pretty and Atkinson

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Cross, Allingham 
and Jurd

________________________________________

RESOLVED ITEMS (SUBJECT TO QUESTIONS ONLY)

46. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

There was no public participation on this occasion.

47. MINUTES

It was AGREED -

That the Minutes of the meeting of the Panel held on 5 September 
2019 be confirmed and signed by the Chairman as a correct record.

48. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Councillor Tidridge declared a non-pecuniary interest in agenda item 8, 
Climate and Environmental Emergency Strategy and Action Plan, as a 
member of the working group; and

Councillor Grajewski also declared a non-pecuniary interest in agenda 
item 8, Climate and Environmental Emergency Strategy and Action Plan, 
as a Governor at Eastleigh College.

49. CHAIR'S REPORT

The Chair reported that:

 The Environment Task and Finish Group (TFG) were having trouble 
finding a slot to speak to the Cabinet Member for Environment so 
the portfolio session had been deferred from this agenda;

 Councillor Groves, lead member for the TFG, had been asked to 
report back in writing and if there were issues of concern then they 

3

Agenda Item 3



2

would be picked up in the work plan; it was not proposed to hold 
another portfolio session.

 The scrutiny training session facilitated by the Centre for Public 
Scrutiny had been a success and the Chair thanked Councillors for 
the good attendance by the Committee; a follow-up session would 
be arranged for some time in November to enable Members to put 
what they had learnt into ways of working.

50. ENFORCEMENT POLICY

Consideration was given to a report by the Head of Housing and 
Development (Agenda Item 6), relating to the Local Enforcement Policy.  
Councillors were advised that national guidelines had emerged and they 
had taken the opportunity to reflect these in the policy, sitting under the 
wider Corporate Enforcement Strategy, and endeavour to make the focus 
more positive.  Key changes included being more robust and 
proportionate.  The team had already been working to the standards set-
out in the policy for a number of months with performance being monitored 
quarterly.

RESOLVED – 

That the Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel:

(1) noted the Local Enforcement Report; and

(2) recommended to Cabinet that a sentence be added to the 
policy regarding enforcement action taken against vulnerable 
people.

51. QUARTERLY CORPORATE & FINANCIAL MONITORING REPORT

Consideration was given to a report by the Head of Performance and 
Governance, Strategic Planning Manager and Head of Finance (Agenda 
Item 7).  

The report sets out the Council’s financial and performance position for the 
second quarter of 2019/20 and highlighted significant and emerging 
financial and performance issues.  Key Performance Indicators (KPI) for 
each service area were outlined in the appendix to the report.  The results 
of the Council’s Residents’ Survey were also contained as an appendix to 
the report.

The Panel made a number of comments/observations:

 The cost of case handling seemed very high; either the KPI needs 
rethinking or the Panel needed a written update;

 What nuisance did paragraph fifteen refer to as noise was 
specifically excluded?

4



3

 It was paramount that Freedom of Information (FoI) requests were 
responded to within statutory timescales; whilst performance had 
improved it needed to be monitored;

 Residents survey was not at all representative of the population of 
the Borough; a more robust sampling method should be considered 
in future years;

 A benchmarking exercise of survey results with near neighbours or 
comparable Councils would be useful and a written update 
provided;

 The principle of doing a Customer Survey was supported, and 
should be carried out again in future years, but much more robustly.

RESOLVED – 

That the Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel noted the 
performance of the Council for the first half of the year and the 
financial position of the Council (including the forecast for the year) 
and made the following recommendations to Cabinet:

(1) The KPI relating to case handling costs should be reworked;
(2) Residents Survey results should be benchmarked with near 

neighbours and comparable sized Councils; and
(3) Residents Survey should be carried out again in future years 

but more robustly.

52. CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL EMERGENCY STRATEGY 
AND ACTION PLAN

Consideration was given to a report by the Strategic Lead for Environment 
(Agenda Item 8), relating the Climate and Environmental Emergency 
Strategy and Action Plan, following the declaration of a Climate Change 
and Environmental Emergency by Council on 18 July 2019.  Since then a 
cross party working group has been formed and met five times to develop 
the strategy and action plan.

The Panel commented:

 Would be better to include a ball park figure of costs for 
implementation and whether everything in the action plan was 
covered by current resources or in the Medium Term Financial 
Plan;

 Would also be useful to have a ball park target for the difference the 
Council can make on the climate emergency;

 The Council’s IT was missing from the action plan;
 Congratulated the working group and Strategy Lead on the quality 

of the paper; and
 Requested that once the Governance plan/structure was worked up 

that it be reported back to the Panel.

RESOLVED – 

5



4

That the Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel:

(1) Notes the content of the report;
(2) Recommends that IT be included in the action plan; and
(3) Requests that once the governance plan and/or structure is in 

place that it is reported back to the Panel.

53. ENVIRONMENT PORTFOLIO: WASTE & RECYCLING

This item was deferred from this agenda.

54. CABINET FORWARD PLAN

The Panel considered the Forward Plan of Key Decisions.

The Panel requested that Nitrate Neutrality come to the Panel for pre-
decision scrutiny on 12 March 2020.

The Panel also requested that an update be produced for the number of 
key decisions that are published in the forward plan with, or without, three 
months’ notice.

It was AGREED that the report be noted.

55. POLICY AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL'S WORK 
PROGRAMME

Panel members considered their Work Programme to March 2020.

The Panel agreed that there should be a general training session on 
Aspect Housing and that the Panel would scrutinise the aims and 
objectives of the scheme.

It was AGREED that Policy and Performance meetings would start at 
6.45pm going forward.

It was AGREED that the Work Programme be noted.

1. FIELD_TITLEFIELD_TITLE

6



POLICY AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL 

Wednesday, 22 January 2020 

AIR QUALITY ACTION PLAN

Report of the Head of Environment

Recommendation

It is recommended that  the Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel notes the 
contents of this report and makes recommendations on the draft Air Quality Action 
Plan to Cabinet as appropriate.

Summary

Eastleigh Borough Council has a statutory duty to monitor air quality and produce an Air 
Quality Action Plan (AQAP) for the four declared Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs).  
The Council’s existing AQAPs have been reviewed and updated as required by the Local 
Air Quality Management framework.  This update is also needed to reflect an extension of 
the Hamble Lane AQMA.  Following DEFRA advice the Council has combined the existing 
AQAPs into one plan for the Borough, containing both location-specific and Borough-wide 
actions.  This has been developed in partnership with key stakeholders and the 
community, including a public consultation.

Focus for Scrutiny

The panel are asked to note the background information explaining why a Borough-wide 
AQAP has been produced, the table of actions in the draft AQAP and the changes that 
have been made as a result of consultation.  Any comments or recommendations are to be 
passed on to Cabinet before approval and adoption of the AQAP.

Statutory Powers

Environment Act 1995 Part IV Section 83(2)

EU Directive 2008/50/EC, transposed into The Air Quality Standards Regulations 2010 in 
the UK

Environment Bill 2019

Strategic Implications 

1. The impacts of poor air quality and the action needed to tackle it touch upon 
many of the Council’s Corporate objectives.  This cross-cutting issue is led by 

7

Agenda Item 6



Eastleigh Borough Council

the Cabinet member for Transport as part of the Council’s ‘Tackling 
congestion’ objective.  Council objectives around Health, Environment and 
Economy & Housing are all impacted by this issue, including ‘Excellent 
environment for all’ and ‘Enabling healthier lifestyles’.

2. European and national statutory air quality duties derive from negative 
impacts on health and wellbeing, especially for the very young and old, and 
people with existing health conditions.

Introduction

3. Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs) must be declared where pollutant 
concentrations are found to be at risk of exceeding national objective levels.  
Once declared, AQMAs must have an associated Air Quality Action Plan 
(AQAP) which contains measures aiming to bring levels of air pollution under 
the objective values.

4. There are currently four AQMAs in Eastleigh Borough (Appendix 1: page 28) 
which have been covered by three adopted AQAPs.  These existing AQAPs 
have been reviewed and updated as required by the Local Air Quality 
Management framework.  This update is also needed to reflect an extension 
of the Hamble Lane AQMA which was declared in August 2019.

5. The amended Hamble Lane Area Order was approved by Cabinet under a 
delegated decision, completed on 30 August 2019 and submitted to the 
Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) before the 
AQAP consultation began on the 2 September 2019.  It was approved by 
Bursledon, Hamble-le-Rice and Hound Local Area Committee on 26 
September 2019.

6. Consultation with DEFRA guidelines has confirmed that Councils with multiple 
AQMAs are encouraged to produce a single action plan to cover all.  This 
approach is recommended where all AQMAs share common pollution 
sources, as is the case in Eastleigh Borough where the main source of 
pollution for all AQMAs is traffic related.

7. The Council has taken the opportunity to consolidate our AQAPs into a single 
Borough-wide document which identifies both overarching Borough-wide 
actions and targeted actions for individual locations.  This takes into account 
that Borough-wide actions, such as the promotion of sustainable travel 
choices, will not only impact on the AQMAs but will have widespread benefits.

Air Quality Action Plan

8. The AQAP is aimed at improving air quality in the time period 2020 – 2025 
after which it will undergo a full review.  However, it is intended to be a ‘living’ 
document and will be kept updated during the plan period.  The document 
contains a range of actions which include a mixture of funded projects, longer 
term aspirations where resources are not yet in place and schemes that 
require commitment and joint working with other public and private sector 
organisations.

8



Eastleigh Borough Council

9. The timescale of the development of the new Borough-wide AQAP is shown in 
the table below.

Activity Date Details

Approval to 
proceed 11 July 2019 Cabinet decision

Engagement with 
Local Areas

11 June 2019 (ELAC)

22 July 2019 (BHH)

14 August 2019 (BIFOHH)

11 September 2019 (CFH)

12 September 2019 
(HEWEB)

26 September 2019 (BHH)

Local Area Committee, Team 
and Working Group meetings 
attended as requested

Input of Air Quality 
Working Group

18 September 2019

18 December 2019
Meetings held

Public consultation 
on draft AQAP

2 September – 11 October 
2019

Online questionnaire and six 
information events held 
across all Local Areas

Engagement with 
key stakeholders

2 September – 11 October 
2019 (consultation)

13 December 2019 (Meeting 
with Hampshire County 
Council)

Consultation details sent to 
identified organisations and 
follow up meetings arranged

Scrutiny 22 January 2020 Policy and Performance 
Scrutiny Panel feedback

Approval of final 
AQAP 18 February 2020 Cabinet decision

AQAP publication 
and submission Following approval

AQAP submitted to DEFRA 
and publicised on the 
Council’s website

Annual reporting Starting June 2020
AQAP actions reported on in 
Annual Status report to 
DEFRA

9



Eastleigh Borough Council

10. The Council held a public consultation on a draft version of the Air Quality 
Action Plan between 2 September 2019 and 11 October 2019, comprising an 
online questionnaire and six information events held across all of the Local 
Areas.  The details of these events were: 

Date Location
Tuesday 17 September

5pm – 8pm
Eastleigh House, Eastleigh

Monday 23 September
3pm – 6:30pm

Pilands Wood Centre, Bursledon

Thursday 3 October
11:30am – 2pm

Swan Walk Shopping Centre, Eastleigh

Friday 4 October
11am – 1pm

Waitrose, Chandlers Ford

Monday 7 October
11:30am – 2pm

Hedge End Retail Park, Hedge End

Monday 7 October
5pm – 7pm

Woodland Community Centre, Fair Oak

11. The first two events were run as evening drop in sessions but received 
relatively low turnout.  As a result a further four events were organised as 
display sessions, aiming for lunchtimes in areas where a high footfall was 
expected.  A much higher level of engagement was seen at these events and 
there was an increase in response rate towards the end of the consultation 
period which is likely a result of holding these.

12. In total 116 people made a formal response to the consultation by filling out 
the questionnaire provided and further comments were also received and 
noted at the public events.  As a result of the consultation feedback a number 
of changes have been made to the AQAP.  A summary of consultation 
responses received and changes made is included in the Draft AQAP 
(Appendix 1: page 31).

13. The full AQAP contains all of the technical information which is required for 
submission to DEFRA and is included as Appendix 1.  In addition a public 
facing summary document has been produced as a more accessible version 
and both will be made publically available following approval.

14. On December 18, the Air Quality Working Group reviewed the consultation 
feedback and made comment on the full AQAP.  This group contains 
representation for all local areas as well as Cabinet Members for Transport 
and Environment.  Their comments and the proposed amendments are also 
detailed in the summary of consultation responses (Appendix 1: page 39).

Financial Implications

15. The AQAP consultation was carried out through existing budgets and 
available resource.

10



Eastleigh Borough Council

16. Any actions identified in the new AQAP that require additional funding for 
delivery will be taken to the relevant Local Area Committee (LAC) or Cabinet 
for approval.  Where possible Eastleigh Borough Council will work in 
partnership to deliver these and will take every opportunity to secure 
additional funding that is made available through grant funds or securing 
developers contributions from Section 106 Agreements.  In the future an Air 
Quality Supplementary Planning Document attached to the Local Plan will 
detail the kind of mitigation measures expected from developers where there 
are likely to be impacts upon air quality.

Risk Assessment

17. The AQAP will ensure that the Council takes a managed approach to air 
quality by identifying the most effective actions and targeting priority locations.  
Progress against the AQAP will be reported annually and the actions reviewed 
and updated when necessary to ensure they remain relevant to Council 
priorities and activities.

Equality and Diversity Implications

18. The Equality Act is relevant to the decision in this report as it relates to 
addressing an issue that, although it has an impact on all residents, can 
disproportionately affect the most vulnerable in society such as children, 
people with health issues or those living in closer proximity to pollution 
sources.  An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) has been carried out and is 
attached to this report as Appendix 2.  In summary the EqIA shows that the 
Council has made efforts to engage those groups which are most affected by 
poor air quality and taken into account their concerns as part of the 
development of the plan.  The aim of the AQAP is to improve air quality 
across the Borough, this will benefit everyone but particularly those groups 
which air pollution has the biggest impact on.  In this way, the AQAP is 
working to reduce inequality and adverse impacts on vulnerable groups.

Climate Change and Environmental Implications

19. The AQAP supports work in the Climate and Environmental Emergency 
Strategy and Action Plan and many actions are relevant to both areas of work.

20. The AQAP aims to improve air quality across the Borough, particularly in local 
areas where air quality does not meet national objective levels.  Poor air 
quality has significant impact on the local environment and public health and 
in many cases air quality improvements are also positive for climate change.  
Conflicts can arise however, where action in one area has a detrimental effect 
on the other, therefore it’s important to consider how to achieve the maximum 
benefit.  In this way the AQAP will contribute towards the environmental 
targets set out in the Climate and Environmental Emergency Strategy.

11



Eastleigh Borough Council

Conclusion

21. Eastleigh Borough Council continues to work towards delivering 
improvements in air quality and the new AQAP will be instrumental in setting 
the Council’s programme of work for this.

ISABEL HESSEY
POLLUTION CONTROL OFFICER

Date: 10 January 2020
Contact Officer: Isabel Hessey 
Tel No: 023 8068 3356
e-mail: isabel.hessey@eastleigh.gov.uk
Appendices Attached: 1- Draft AQAP

2- Equalities Impact Assessment 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information.

Background Papers: None

12



Draft
Eastleigh Borough Council

Eastleigh Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025

Eastleigh Borough Council
Air Quality Action Plan

In fulfilment of Part IV of the
Environment Act 1995
Local Air Quality Management

2020

13



Draft
Eastleigh Borough Council

Eastleigh Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025

Local Authority 
Officer Isabel Hessey

Department Environment

Address Eastleigh House, Upper Market Street, 
Eastleigh, Hampshire, SO50 9YN

Telephone 02380 683356

E-mail isabel.hessey@eastleigh.gov.uk

Report Reference 
number EBCAQAP2020/01

Date

14



Draft
Eastleigh Borough Council

Eastleigh Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025 i

Executive Summary
This Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) has been produced as part of our statutory 

duties required by the Local Air Quality Management framework.  It outlines the 

action we will take to improve air quality in Eastleigh Borough between 2020 and 

2025.

This action plan replaces three previous action plans which covered separate Air 

Quality Management Areas (AQMAs):

 Eastleigh AQAP (2015 – 2020)

 Hamble Lane AQAP (2012 – 2017)

 High Street Botley AQAP (2012 – 2017)  

Successes under these action plans include:

 Improvements to monitoring and information gathering

o A completed air quality internship, resulting in a new post at the Council 

for air quality work

o Funding secured for an upgrade and expansion of the Council’s air 

quality analysers

o A successful bid to DEFRA’s Air Quality Grant Programme to trial 

innovative, low cost monitoring equipment 

o Delivery of air quality modelling work to support the Local Plan

 Sustainable transport schemes

o Cycling infrastructure, including cycle parking locations installed along a 

major bus route and a shared use path on the Bishopstoke Bridge

o Bus route improvements, including funded evening services and route 

changes to serve new developments

 Working towards cleaner vehicles

o Providing financial incentives for taxi drivers to replace their vehicles 

with low emission alternatives, funded by DEFRA’s Air Quality Grant 

Programme, resulting in 16 grants issued for replacement vehicles in 

the Eastleigh Area including one fully electric vehicle

15



Draft
Eastleigh Borough Council

Eastleigh Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025 ii

o Upgrade of buses to ensure engines are as efficient as possible

o Electric vehicle charging points installed at Mitchell Road and Romsey 

Road car parks

 Delivery of highways improvement projects

o Completion of M27 Junction 5 improvements

o Planning application granted for the Botley Bypass

 Awareness raising and availability of information

o Support for a successful Access Fund bid which delivered schemes 

including schools projects run by Hampshire County Council school 

travel planning officers

o Launch of ‘airAlert’ scheme which currently has 81 subscribers in the 

Eastleigh area

o Launch of ‘my-air’ webpage which makes monitoring data publicly 

available

Over this time, nitrogen dioxide (NO2) concentrations, which were the basis of all 

AQMA declarations, have reduced in the majority of monitoring locations across the 

borough.

Air pollution is associated with a number of adverse health impacts.  It is recognised 

as a contributing factor in the onset of heart disease and cancer.  Additionally, air 

pollution particularly affects the most vulnerable in society: children and older people, 

and those with heart and lung conditions.  There is also often a strong correlation 

with equalities issues, because areas with poor air quality are also often less affluent 

areas1,2.

The annual health cost to society of the impacts of particulate matter alone in the UK 

is estimated to be around £16 billion3.  Eastleigh Borough Council is committed to 

reducing the exposure of people in the Borough to poor air quality in order to improve 

health. 

1 Environmental equity, air quality, socioeconomic status and respiratory health, 2010
2 Air quality and social deprivation in the UK: an environmental inequalities analysis, 2006
3 Defra. Abatement cost guidance for valuing changes in air quality, May 2013

16



Draft
Eastleigh Borough Council

Eastleigh Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025 iii

As road traffic is the major contributor to air pollution in Eastleigh Borough, actions 

are mainly based around reducing vehicle emissions and encouraging other methods 

of travel.  Overarching, Borough-wide actions are grouped by Council theme:

 Environment – including monitoring of pollutant concentrations and promoting 

the use of electric vehicles

 Transport – including sustainable transport infrastructure and promoting 

alternatives to private vehicle use

 Health & Social Policy – including health based public information 

campaigns and promoting active travel alternatives through school and 

community projects 

 Housing – including planning and policy guidance 

 Economy & Regeneration – including workplace schemes and travel 

planning

Targeted actions for individual locations are grouped by Local Area:

 Eastleigh (ELAC)

 Chandler’s Ford & Hiltingbury (CFH)

 Bishopstoke, Fair Oak & Horton Heath (BIFOHH)

 Hedge End, West End & Botley (HEWEB)

 Bursledon, Hamble-le-Rice & Hound (BHH)

In this AQAP we outline how we plan to effectively tackle air quality issues within our 

control.  However, we recognise that there are a large number of air quality policy 

areas that are outside of our influence (such as vehicle emissions standards agreed 

in Europe), but for which we may have useful evidence, and so we will continue to 

work with regional and central government on policies and issues beyond Eastleigh 

Borough Council’s direct influence.

17



Draft
Eastleigh Borough Council

Eastleigh Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025 iv

Responsibilities and Commitment
This AQAP was prepared by the Environment Department of Eastleigh Borough 

Council with input, support and agreement from staff across areas including 

Pollution, Sustainable Transport, Planning, Economic Development, Health & 

Wellbeing and Strategy.  Support for the AQAP was also received from Hampshire 

County Council and Eastleigh Borough Council will work with the Economy, 

Transport & Environment and Public Health Departments during implementation.

The AQAP was examined by the Council Policy & Performance Scrutiny Panel on 

January 22 2020 and approved by Cabinet on February 18 2020. 

This AQAP will be subject to an annual review and appraisal of progress which will 

be reported in the Annual Status Reports (ASRs) produced by Eastleigh Borough 

Council as part of our statutory Local Air Quality Management duties.  These reports 

will also be submitted to Cabinet, and Local Area Committees as required, to provide 

regular updates on progress against the AQAP.

If you have any comments on this AQAP please send them to Isabel Hessey at:

Service Delivery – Specialist Services – Environment
Eastleigh Borough Council
Eastleigh House
Upper Market Street
Eastleigh
SO50 9YN
02380 683356

isabel.hessey@eastleigh.gov.uk

18



Draft
Eastleigh Borough Council

Eastleigh Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025 v

Table of Contents
Executive Summary .................................................................................................... i

Responsibilities and Commitment .......................................................................................iv

1 Introduction........................................................................................................1
1.1 Eastleigh Borough ....................................................................................................1

2 Summary of Current Air Quality in Eastleigh Borough..................................2
2.1 Eastleigh AQMA No.1 (A335)...................................................................................3

2.2 Eastleigh AQMA No.2 (M3) ......................................................................................4

2.3 Hamble Lane Area AQMA........................................................................................5

2.4 High Street Botley AQMA.........................................................................................6

3 Eastleigh Borough Council’s Air Quality Priorities........................................7
3.1 Public Health Context...............................................................................................7

3.2 Planning and Policy Context ....................................................................................9

3.3 Source Apportionment............................................................................................10

3.4 Required Reduction in Emissions ..........................................................................13

3.5 Estimated Reduction in Emissions .........................................................................13

3.6 Key Priorities ..........................................................................................................14

4 Development and Implementation of Eastleigh Borough Council’s 
AQAP.........................................................................................................................15

4.1 Public Consultation.................................................................................................15

4.2 Stakeholder Engagement.......................................................................................15

4.3 Steering Group .......................................................................................................16

5 AQAP Measures...............................................................................................17
Appendix A: Air Quality Management Area Maps.................................................28
Appendix B: Emission Reduction Calculations ....................................................30
Appendix C: Public Consultation Response .........................................................31

C.1 The Consultation Process ......................................................................................31

C.2 Response Received ...............................................................................................31

C.3 Support for Actions.................................................................................................33

C.4 Response Themes .................................................................................................34

C.5 Local Areas ............................................................................................................36

C.6 Changes Made .......................................................................................................36

C.7 Air Quality Working Group Comments ...................................................................39

Appendix D: Public Consultation Questionnaire ..................................................40
Appendix E: Air Quality Working Group Terms of Reference .............................44

19



Draft
Eastleigh Borough Council

Eastleigh Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025 vi

Glossary of Terms....................................................................................................46

List of Tables
Table 1 – Health impacts of example scenario for Eastleigh Borough.........................8

Table 2 – Cost impacts of example scenario for Eastleigh Borough............................8

Table 3 – Basic source apportionment for AQMAs where recent exceedances have 

been measured..........................................................................................10

Table 4 – Required reduction in emissions of road NOx to meet objectives ..............13

Table 5 – Estimated reduction in road NOx emissions from different scenarios ........14

Table 6 – Air Quality Action Plan Measures ...............................................................19

Table 7 – Changes made as a result of consultation feedback..................................38

Table 8 – Responses to comments made by the Air Quality Working Group ............39

List of Figures
Figure 1 – Eastleigh AQMA No.1 (A335) NO2 Annual Average ...................................3

Figure 2 – Eastleigh AQMA No.2 (M3) NO2 Annual Average.......................................4

Figure 3 – Hamble Lane AQMA NO2 Annual Average .................................................5

 Figure 4 – High Street Botley AQMA NO2 Annual Average ........................................6

Figure 5 – Traffic source apportionment for Eastleigh AQMA No.1 (A335)................11

Figure 6 – Traffic source apportionment for Hamble Lane.........................................12

Figure 7 – Traffic source apportionment for A27 Bursledon.......................................12

Figure 8 – Eastleigh AQMA No.1 (A335) (blue), Eastleigh AQMA No.2 (M3) (purple)28

Figure 9 – Hamble Lane Area AQMA.........................................................................29

Figure 10 – High Street Botley AQMA........................................................................29

Figure 11 – Inputs to the Emission Factor Toolkit used to calculate estimated 

emission reductions...................................................................................30

Figure 12 – Consultation responses received split by Local Area of residence .........32

Figure 13 – Number of people who do/would consider activities relating to improved 

air quality ...................................................................................................33

20

file://ebc01-101/users/Service%20Delivery/Specialist%20Services/Environment/Air%20Quality/AQMAs%20+%20Action%20Plan/Action%20Plan/EBC%20AQAP%202020-2025%20v8.doc%23_Toc29473593


Draft
Eastleigh Borough Council

Eastleigh Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025 1

1 Introduction
This report outlines the actions that Eastleigh Borough Council will deliver between 

2020 and 2025 in order to reduce concentrations of air pollutants and exposure to air 

pollution; thereby positively impacting on the health and quality of life of residents 

and visitors to the Borough.  It has been developed in recognition of the legal 

requirement on the local authority to work towards Air Quality Strategy (AQS) 

objectives under Part IV of the Environment Act 1995 and relevant regulations made 

under that part and to meet the requirements of the Local Air Quality Management 

(LAQM) statutory process.

Eastleigh Borough has four AQMAs and the major emission sources are common to 

all.  This, along with the fact that measures required to address pollution in AQMAs 

are not confined to these areas, means many actions will be relevant to multiple 

AQMAs.  To acknowledge this and produce a more coherent strategy for the 

Borough as a whole, this revised and updated plan covers the whole Borough with 

both overarching Borough-wide actions and specific actions targeted to individual 

locations.  This means that while focussing on the four declared AQMAs, the actions 

are expected to have a positive impact on air quality over the wider area.  

This plan will be reviewed at least every five years and progress on measures set out 

within this plan will be reported on annually within Eastleigh Borough Council’s air 

quality Annual Status Report (ASR).

1.1 Eastleigh Borough
Eastleigh is located at the meeting point of two major motorways, which has an 

impact on traffic flows through the Borough.  The M27 runs east-west through the 

Borough, linking the New Forest and the south west with Portsmouth; and the M3 

runs north-south to the M25 and London.  Additionally, proximity to Southampton, 

including the docks, and Portsmouth which has ferry services to the continent, places 

it at the heart of major transport routes through Hampshire.  This attracts many 

businesses to the area, including manufacturing and distribution.  Southampton 

International Airport is located in the Borough, serving business in Europe and an 

increasing amount of leisure trips, as well as many railway stations including 

Eastleigh and Southampton Airport Parkway.  Finally, the topography of the area has 

some effect as Eastleigh’s location in a basin can result in pollutants being trapped.

21



Draft
Eastleigh Borough Council

Eastleigh Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025 2

2 Summary of Current Air Quality in 
Eastleigh Borough

Air quality monitoring in Eastleigh Borough is carried out by a mixture of continuous 

analysers measuring nitrogen dioxide (NO2) at three locations and particulate matter 

(PM10) at one, and diffusion tubes measuring NO2 at over fifty locations across the 

Borough.  Levels of PM10 are below current objective values, but likely exceedances 

of the annual average NO2 objective of 40µgm-3 have resulted in the declaration of 

four Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs) (see Appendix A).  This means that 

NO2 is the main pollutant of concern in the Borough, with road transport being the 

most significant contributor to this.  The importance of continuing to reduce PM 

concentrations is also recognised.  

Monitoring data shows that while NO2 concentrations are decreasing at most sites, 

many areas haven’t improved as quickly as national data would indicate and 

concentrations are still higher than the objective level in a number of places.  Results 

of air quality modelling which was carried out to support the Local Plan (see Section 

3.3) highlighted that the rate of decrease shown by our monitoring does not match 

the drop predicted by the model4.  Modelling results showed no exceedances in 

2020, whereas applying the rate of decline measured over the last five years to 

monitoring data shows exceedances of the objective level for several years beyond 

this.  In some areas the downward trend appears to be slowing or stopping, as 

considering the rate of decline over the last four years results in several sites with 

rising trends and others not predicted to drop below the objective before 2025.  Some 

suggestions for this discrepancy are given in the modelling report and include an 

older fleet than assumed or congestion patterns not being captured correctly.  

However there is agreement in the priority areas identified by both modelling and 

monitoring, which are Eastleigh AQMA No.1 (A335) and Hamble Lane Area AQMA.  

At the Eastleigh AQMA No.2 (M3) and High Street Botley AQMA there is not thought 

to be a risk of exceedance and these could be considered for revocation.  In the near 

future these AQMAs will be retained and monitored to collect further evidence, 

consider all exposure options and to assess effectiveness of actions which have not 

yet been completed such as the Botley Bypass.

4 Air Quality Impact Assessment (AQIA) for the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan (EBLP): Addendum 1 – Updates and 2020 Model Results.  Ricardo 
Energy & Environment report ED11692101, Issue No. 2, 07/06/2019.

22



Draft
Eastleigh Borough Council

Eastleigh Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025 3

2.1 Eastleigh AQMA No.1 (A335)
Originally declared on 16 February 2005 to follow the A335 Southampton Road, 

Romsey Road and Leigh Road, this AQMA was extended on 3 February 2015 to 

extend a short way along Woodside Avenue, Twyford Road and Bishopstoke Road.  

Monitoring results show that overall NO2 concentrations are falling, but this decrease 

has noticeably slowed over the last four years and if the time period 2015 – 2018 is 

considered alone no clear drop is seen.  In the most recent year of ratified data, the 

annual objective level was exceeded at three diffusion tube locations in this AQMA.

Figure 1 – Eastleigh AQMA No.1 (A335) NO2 Annual Average

23



Draft
Eastleigh Borough Council

Eastleigh Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025 4

2.2 Eastleigh AQMA No.2 (M3)
Declared on 3 July 2006, this AQMA covers an area extending either side of the M3 

motorway from junctions 12 to 14.  All sampling locations within this AQMA have 

been below the annual average objective level since 2012.  These sites also show a 

gradual decrease in concentrations across the time period 2012 – 2018.

Figure 2 – Eastleigh AQMA No.2 (M3) NO2 Annual Average

24



Draft
Eastleigh Borough Council

Eastleigh Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025 5

2.3 Hamble Lane Area AQMA
Declared on 3 July 2006, this AQMA originally covered Hamble Lane between the 

junctions with Jurd Way and Portsmouth Road.  It has subsequently been extended 

twice, on 20 June 2011 to extend north to the Windhover roundabout and on 30 

August 2019 to cover the Windhover Roundabout and the A27 southwest to the 

Borough boundary.  Monitoring sites on Hamble Lane show no clear trend and there 

is a risk air quality is deteriorating further.  This is shown by results from the site HL2, 

which have not decreased substantially in the period 2012 – 2018, and by the need 

to further extend this AQMA in 2019 to include the A27 in Bursledon.  One diffusion 

tube site in this AQMA exceeded the annual average objective in 2018, but 

exceedances at other sites have been seen in recent years along with a number of 

results which are between 35 µgm-3 and 40 µgm-3.  Additional monitoring on the A27 

was carried out in 2019 to inform the AQMA extension, and while a final bias 

adjusted annual average is not yet available for these, initial results indicate there is 

a risk of further exceedances in this area.  

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Hamble Lane Hamble Lane 2 Oak Hill Oak Hill 2 Bridge Road

N
O

2
An

nu
al

 A
ve

ra
ge

 (µ
gm

-3
)

Hamble Lane AQMA

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 Annual Objective

Figure 3 – Hamble Lane AQMA NO2 Annual Average

25



Draft
Eastleigh Borough Council

Eastleigh Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025 6

2.4 High Street Botley AQMA
Declared on 20 June 2011, this AQMA covers Botley High Street from the Maypole 

roundabout to the Winchester Street junction.  Sampling locations here have been 

below the annual average objective level since 2015 and are showing a clear but 

gradual decrease in concentrations across the time period 2012 – 2018.

 Figure 4 – High Street Botley AQMA NO2 Annual Average

26



Draft
Eastleigh Borough Council

Eastleigh Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025 7

3 Eastleigh Borough Council’s Air Quality 
Priorities

3.1 Public Health Context
Eastleigh Borough Council’s Corporate Theme of ‘Healthy Communities’ is an 

aspiration to improve the health and wellbeing of people who live and work in the 

Borough so they live long, healthy and happy lives.  This is a core component of 

supporting and creating sustainable communities.  The theme is further split into the 

sections:

 Enabling healthier lifestyles / wellbeing: Facilitate better physical and 

mental health and wellbeing by improving the places people live and work, 

meeting the challenge of the ageing population and promoting cultural and 

physical activity.

 Tackling deprivation: Reduce health inequalities by engaging with and 

prioritising our service towards those groups and communities in most 

need.

Under this aspiration, the aim of the AQAP is to reduce the exposure of people in the 

Borough to poor air quality.  European and national statutory air quality duties derive 

from negative impacts on health and wellbeing, especially for the very young, very 

old, and people with existing health conditions such as Asthma and Chronic 

Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD).  Therefore reducing pollutant 

concentrations below the objective levels, as is the aim of this plan, will work towards 

this.  The links between PM2.5 and health are recognised and the AQAP continues to 

address this pollutant alongside NO2 with an aim to reduce concentrations as much 

as possible, acknowledging that there is no safe level for PM2.5.  Some identified 

actions have related benefits such as improving health through active travel and 

increasing awareness through air pollution alerts and more accessible data, which 

will help vulnerable groups minimise their risks of exposure when levels are higher 

than average.

The cost of poor air quality, in terms of both health impacts and related financial 

impacts, can be quantified by using the Public Health England Air Quality Tool5.  This 

5 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/air-pollution-a-tool-to-estimate-healthcare-costs

27

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/air-pollution-a-tool-to-estimate-healthcare-costs


Draft
Eastleigh Borough Council

Eastleigh Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025 8

allows testing of scenarios specific to Eastleigh Borough.  The impact of the whole 

population of the Borough moving to areas classified as having low levels of both 

NO2 and PM2.5, from 2017 to 2037, is summarised below.

Prevalence cases per 100,000 population avoided

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease 246

Lung cancer 10

Coronary heart disease 574

Stroke 148

Diabetes 813

Diabetes in children 70

Asthma in children 604

Table 1 – Health impacts of example scenario for Eastleigh Borough

Cumulative cost per 100,000 population avoided

Primary care £4.23 million

Secondary care £14.2 million

Medication £7.4 million

Social care £5.27 million

Table 2 – Cost impacts of example scenario for Eastleigh Borough

28



Draft
Eastleigh Borough Council

Eastleigh Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025 9

3.2 Planning and Policy Context
Air quality is a cross cutting issue which features in many of the Council’s corporate 

objectives and is a focus of several policies and strategies.  In addition to ‘Healthy 

Communities’ described in Section 3.1, another Corporate Theme is ‘Green 

Borough’.  This is split into sections:

 Tackling congestion: Tackle local traffic congestion and associated pollution 

by reducing car usage and improving transport infrastructure.

 Excellent environment for all: Create a clean and attractive environment that 

provides for people’s social, occupation and recreational needs, and is 

desirable for all, including residents, employees, visitors and investors.

 Developing green infrastructure: Ensure future development contributes to the 

Borough’s sustainability and resilience through effective low carbon planning 

and design, incorporating access to and between local facilities, joined up 

open space and safeguarding of wildlife and natural resources.

Other Council policies with an impact on air quality include:

 Local Plan: Eastleigh Borough Council is currently working towards the 

adoption of a new Local Plan which sets out planning policy and the location 

of strategic development sites.

 Climate and Environmental Emergency: This was declared by the Council in 

2019 and the Climate and Environmental Emergency Strategy and Action Plan 

are supported by this AQAP.

 Planning Policy:  Air quality considerations are taken into account in any of the 

following cases:

o Where the development is proposed within, or adjacent to, an AQMA.

o Where the development or the associated traffic could result in the 

designation of an AQMA.

o Where the granting of planning permission would conflict with, or render 

unworkable, elements of any local Air Quality Action Plan or strategy.

o Where it is expected that the development may have a substantial 

impact on the local air quality or future occupiers of the development 

29



Draft
Eastleigh Borough Council

Eastleigh Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025 10

may be subject to unacceptable air quality then the Council may require 

a suitable air quality impact assessment to be carried out prior to 

consideration of the application.

3.3 Source Apportionment
The AQAP measures presented in this report are intended to be targeted towards the 

predominant sources of emissions within Eastleigh Borough Council’s area.  An initial 

separation of predominant sources into regional background, local background and 

local sources has been carried out in line with the Local Air Quality Management 

Technical Guidance (Chapter 7).  This exercise was completed at three locations, 

using monitoring results from 2018 and DEFRA background map data for the same 

year.  The actions in this AQAP are mainly aimed at reducing the local source 

component at each location, which is assumed to be predominantly made up of road 

traffic.

NO2 Local 
Sources 2018 Monitoring 

Site

Measured NO2 
Concentration  
2018 (µgm-3)

NO2 Regional 
Background 
2018 (µgm-3)

NO2 Local 
Background 
2018 (µgm-3) µgm-3 %

SR1
(Eastleigh 

AQMA No.1)

45.7 6.43 12.11 27.16 59%

HL2
(Hamble Lane 
Area AQMA)

39.2 6.35 10.72 22.13 56%

OH2
(Hamble Lane 
Area AQMA)

50.9 6.15 15.08 29.67 58%

Table 3 – Basic source apportionment for AQMAs where recent exceedances 
have been measured

Some further source apportionment is included in the air quality modelling 

commissioned by Eastleigh Borough Council in support of the Local Plan, carried out 

30



Draft
Eastleigh Borough Council

Eastleigh Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025 11

by Ricardo and received in May 20196.  This included three areas, Eastleigh AQMA 

No.1, Hamble Lane and the A27; which have subsequently been joined in the 

Hamble Lane Area AQMA.  Analysis by vehicle type was provided, which can be 

used to further split the ‘Local Sources’ portion.  However, it should be noted this was 

based on regional traffic data and not the specific vehicle fleet in each area, further 

source apportionment work has been identified as an action to collect some more 

detailed data.  Percentage source contributions were identified as follows:

Figure 5 – Traffic source apportionment for Eastleigh AQMA No.1 (A335)

6 Air Quality Impact Assessment (AQIA) for the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan (EBLP): Addendum 1 – Updates and 2020 Model Results.  Ricardo 
Energy & Environment report ED11692101, Issue No. 2, 07/06/2019.

31



Draft
Eastleigh Borough Council

Eastleigh Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025 12

Figure 6 – Traffic source apportionment for Hamble Lane

Figure 7 – Traffic source apportionment for A27 Bursledon

32



Draft
Eastleigh Borough Council

Eastleigh Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025 13

3.4 Required Reduction in Emissions
The reduction in NOx emissions required to meet the annual mean objective for NO2 

at the three sampling points in Table 1 has been calculated in line with Technical 

Guidance LAQM TG16 Chapter 7.  The target NO2 value used in these calculations is 

35µgm-3, to take into account the need to be significantly below the objective value 

due to the error associated with diffusion tubes.

Monitoring 
Site

Measured NO2 
Concentration  
2018 (µgm-3)

Road NOx 
Concentration 

(µgm-3)

Required 
Road NOx 

(µgm-3)
Required 

Reduction

SR1
(Eastleigh 

AQMA No.1)

45.7 59.43 34.07 43%

HL2
(Hamble Lane 
Area AQMA)

39.2 46.84 37.14 21%

OH2
(Hamble Lane 
Area AQMA)

50.9 66.64 28.48 57%

Table 4 – Required reduction in emissions of road NOx to meet objectives

3.5 Estimated Reduction in Emissions
The measures in this AQAP are mainly based around reducing vehicle emissions 

and encouraging other methods of travel to reduce vehicle numbers on the roads.  

To estimate the reduction in emissions that might be expected as a result of these 

measures, the Emissions Factor Toolkit7 was used with traffic data8,9 from the 

Department for Transport (DfT) to calculate NOx emissions from the vehicle fleet in 

two key locations, Southampton Road and the A27 in Bursledon.  The fleet makeup 

was then adjusted to test different scenarios, the NOx emissions recalculated and 

compared to the original baseline level as a % reduction.  It should be noted that 

these calculations are designed to give an indication only and contain several 

7 EFT v9.0 (https://laqm.defra.gov.uk/review-and-assessment/tools/emissions-factors-toolkit.html)
8 https://roadtraffic.dft.gov.uk/#6/55.254/-6.053/basemap-regions-countpoints
9 Department for Transport Vehicle Licensing Statistics: Annual 2018

33

https://laqm.defra.gov.uk/review-and-assessment/tools/emissions-factors-toolkit.html
https://roadtraffic.dft.gov.uk/#6/55.254/-6.053/basemap-regions-countpoints


Draft
Eastleigh Borough Council

Eastleigh Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025 14

assumptions which may not apply to each individual situation.  More information on 

the inputs to the Emissions Factor Toolkit can be found in Appendix B.

Road NOx Reduction
Scenario

Southampton Road A27 Bursledon

5% 6% 4%

10% 8% 7%Reduce number of cars by:

25% 13% 13%

5% 2% 2%

10% 5% 5%
Change petrol/diesel cars to 

electric:
25% 12% 13%

5% 0% -8%

10% 1% 1%Reduce number of HGVs by:

25% 2% 2%

Change all HGVs to EURO VI 8% 5%

Table 5 – Estimated reduction in road NOx emissions from different scenarios

3.6 Key Priorities
Based on exceedances seen, required and estimated reductions calculated and 

source apportionment information available, the areas prioritised for action are:

 Hamble Lane Area AQMA – actions aimed at reducing the number of cars and 

relieving congestion, particularly on the A27 section.

 Eastleigh AQMA No.1 (A335) – actions aimed at reducing the number of 

HGVs and improving fleet make up in terms of EURO class.  

34



Draft
Eastleigh Borough Council

Eastleigh Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025 15

4 Development and Implementation of 
Eastleigh Borough Council’s AQAP

4.1 Public Consultation
The Council held a public consultation on the draft AQAP between September 2019 

and October 2019, comprising an online questionnaire and six information events 

held across all of the Local Areas.  People were asked to rate their level of support 

for each proposed action as well being given the opportunity to leave further 

comments.  The consultation was advertised in the Borough News, which is delivered 

to every household, and through the Council’s website and social media channels.  In 

total 116 people made a formal response to the consultation by filling out the 

questionnaire provided and further comments were also received at the events.  

When rating the proposed actions, the response was generally positive with support 

outweighing opposition across the board.  Those actions which received the highest 

percentage of positive responses are the themes which make up the core of the 

Action Plan and will continue to do so.  Summary and analysis of the feedback 

received, along with a table of changes made as a result, is included as Appendix C.

4.2 Stakeholder Engagement
In developing this AQAP, we have worked with neighbouring local authorities, 

highways and health agencies, businesses and community groups to improve local 

air quality.  As part of this stakeholder engagement, consultation information was 

sent directly to each Parish Council, neighbouring Local Authorities, the County 

Council, Highways England and other companies and organisations that were 

identified as having a likely interest.  Subsequent meetings were held including with 

representatives from Hampshire County Council Highways and Public Health 

departments.  Through this discussion support from these areas was established, 

information and input from them has been included in the plan and a way forward 

during the implementation of the AQAP has been agreed.  Ongoing engagement will 

be achieved through regular meetings throughout the time period of the plan.

35



Draft
Eastleigh Borough Council

Eastleigh Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025 16

4.3 Steering Group
The Council has put together an Air Quality Working Group with the purpose of 

overseeing, steering and assisting delivery of air quality work at the Council, 

including implementation of the AQAP.  The roles and responsibilities of this group 

cover having an overview of AQAP delivery and identifying new policies or actions 

that could have a positive effect on air quality, and so will be key in pushing forward 

the AQAP.  The core membership of this group has representation from each of the 

Local Area Committees and the Cabinet Portfolio Leads for Transport, Environment 

and Health and Wellbeing.  Officer support is provided from the Pollution Team.  

More details can be seen in the Terms of Reference for this group, included in 

Appendix E.

The Air Quality Working Group were kept informed of the consultation process, and 

were involved in creating the consultation document.  They met during the 

consultation period and again while the plan was being finalised to ensure there was 

continued input.  Regular meetings during the Action Plan implementation period will 

be held. 

36



Draft
Eastleigh Borough Council

Eastleigh Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025 17

5 AQAP Measures
Table 6 – Air Quality Action Plan Measures shows the Eastleigh Borough AQAP 
measures. It contains:

 a list of the actions that form part of the plan

 the responsible individual and departments/organisations who will deliver this 
action

 estimated cost of implementing each action (overall cost and cost to the local 
authority)

 expected benefit in terms of pollutant emission and/or concentration reduction

 the timescale for implementation

 how progress will be monitored

NB: Please see future ASRs for regular annual updates on implementation of these 

measures

Overall, as road traffic is the major contributor to air pollution in Eastleigh Borough, 

actions are mainly based around reducing vehicle emissions and encouraging other 

methods of travel.  Other themes covered include use of solid fuel burners, planning 

guidance and green infrastructure. 

To identify the most appropriate actions and prioritise these, consideration was given 

to:

- the likely impact on pollution levels

- any associated effects

- cost of implementation

- implementation timescale

- feasibility of implementation

- public consultation responses

Although the focus is on areas with the highest exposures, the whole Borough is 

included as we recognise that these actions will impact the wider area and to ensure 

we take account of the connectivity between the issues faced in each location.  

Therefore the actions list contains both overarching actions (grouped by Council 

theme) and targeted actions for individual locations (grouped by area).  Actions 

included below are expected to have a positive impact on air quality but include a 

mixture of funded projects, longer term aspirations where resources are not yet in 

37



Draft
Eastleigh Borough Council

Eastleigh Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025 18

place and schemes that require commitment from other public and private sector 

organisations.

38



Draft
Eastleigh Borough Council

Eastleigh Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025 19

Table 6 – Air Quality Action Plan Measures
Measure 

No. Measure EU Category EU Classification Lead Authority Planning 
Phase

Implementation 
Phase

Key Performance 
Indicator

Estimated 
Completion Date

ENVIRONMENT

ENV1.1
Monitor pollutant concentrations 
across the Borough, including 

NO2 and PM
Other Other EBC - 2020 – 2025 >85% data capture for 

each calendar year
-

ENV1.2

Complete an upgrade of 
monitoring equipment, to 

include:
- Replacement of 

existing analysers
- Addition of analysers 

to expand range of 
pollutants monitored

- Relocation of 
monitoring stations

- Installation of new 
monitoring locations 

Other Other EBC 2019 – 2021 In several phases 
from 2020 – 2023 

% data capture for 
each calendar year

Range of pollutants 
and number of 

locations monitored

June 2023

ENV1.3 Carry out trial of equipment 
linking air quality and traffic data Other Other EBC

Completed 
2018 – 2019 2019 – 2020 

Trial completed and 
findings reported to 

DEFRA
December 2020

ENV2 Work in partnership with other 
Councils and key groups

Policy Guidance 
& Development 

Control

Regional groups co-
ordinating programmes to 

develop area wide strategies 
to reduce emissions and 

improve air quality

EBC / other 
Hampshire 
authorities 

- 2020 – 2025 Regular meetings held -

ENV3

Promote the use of electric 
vehicles by investigating 

incentives and developing a 
network of publically available 
electric vehicle charge points 
across the Borough in both 

public and business locations

Promoting Low 
Emission 
Transport

Procuring alternative 
Refuelling infrastructure to 

promote Low Emission 
Vehicles, EV recharging, 

Gas fuel recharging

EBC - 2020 – 2025 
Number of EV 
charging points 

installed
-

ENV4
Consider the use of green 

infrastructure and planting to 
improve the local environment

Other Other EBC - 2020 – 2025 
Planting considered in 
association with public 
realm improvements

-

39



Draft
Eastleigh Borough Council

Eastleigh Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025 20

TRANSPORT

TR1

Create a walking and cycling 
strategy to promote and 

encourage travel by these 
methods

Promoting 
Travel 

Alternatives
Other EBC

Complete 
2019 2020 Completion of strategy June 2020

TR2.1

Continue to improve and extend 
the walking network in line with 

the new walking and cycling 
strategy, including running 
pedestrianisation events

Promoting 
Travel 

Alternatives
Promotion of walking EBC / HCC 2020 – 2025 2020 – 2025 

Pedestrian 
improvement schemes 

completed

First pedestrianisation 
event June 2020

TR2.2

Improve and extend the cycle 
network in line with the new 
walking and cycling strategy, 

including:
- maintenance of 

existing cycle paths
-  addition of new cycle 

routes 
- promotion of electric 

bicycles

Transport 
Planning & 

Infrastructure
Cycle network EBC / SCC / HCC 2020 – 2025 2020 – 2025 

Length of cycle path 
added

Number of charging 
points available

-

TR3

Run campaigns aimed at 
reducing vehicle emissions, 
including:

- Reducing the number 
of single occupancy 
cars

- Reducing idling of 
stationary vehicles

Public 
Information Other EBC 2020 2021

Number of campaigns 
run

Number of people 
engaged

First campaign by 
December 2021

TR4.1

Work in partnership with bus 
companies to:

- Improve routes and 
services

- Increase patronage

Transport 
Planning & 

Infrastructure
Bus route improvements EBC / HCC 2020 – 2022 2020 – 2025 

Number of supported 
services

Bus patronage

Supported routes and 
services finalised by 

December 2022

TR4.2

Work with rail operators, 
network rail and the community 
rail partnership to:

- Improve routes and 
services

- Increase patronage
- Minimise the impact of 

emissions from rail 
transport

Transport 
Planning & 

Infrastructure

Public transport 
improvements-interchanges 

stations and services
EBC 2020 – 2025 2020 – 2025 Train patronage -

40



Draft
Eastleigh Borough Council

Eastleigh Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025 21

TR4.3
Monitor progress of Clean Bus 

Technology Fund and 
implications for EBC

Vehicle Fleet 
Efficiency

Promoting Low Emission 
Public Transport SCC

Complete 
2018 2019 Proportion of buses 

classed as EURO VI March 2020

TR5.1
Promote the Low Emission Taxi 
Incentive scheme to encourage 

uptake

Promoting Low 
Emission 
Transport

Taxi emission incentives EBC / SCC
Completed 

2017 2020 Number of grants 
awarded March 2021

TR5.2

Implement a requirement for 
taxis to meet specified Euro 

standards in order to be licensed 
in Eastleigh Borough

Promoting Low 
Emission 
Transport

Taxi Licensing conditions EBC / SCC 2022 2025
All taxis meet 

specified EURO 
standards

March 2025

TR6 Promote and expand car clubs
Alternatives to 
private vehicle 

use
Car Clubs EBC 2020 2020 – 2025 Number of new car 

club locations -

TR7 Increase availability of bicycle 
hire schemes

Promoting 
Travel 

Alternatives
Promotion of cycling EBC 2021 2022 Availability of hire 

schemes April 2023

TR8

Consult on incentivising 
ownership of low emission 
vehicles through differential 

parking charges 

Traffic 
Management

Emission based parking or 
permit charges EBC 2021 2022 Consultation outcome

Consultation 
completed by 

September 2022

TR9

Use low cost sensor study to 
understand relationships 

between traffic movements and 
air quality to influence future 

road design

Traffic 
Management

UTC, Congestion 
management, traffic 

reduction
EBC 2021 2022 – 2025 

Availability of air 
quality and traffic data 

to be used as 
evidence

Data available for first 
study area by June 

2022

TR10

Engage with HCC and HE on 
their highways improvements 

schemes to ensure they support 
our work on air quality

Traffic 
Management

UTC, Congestion 
management, traffic 

reduction
HCC / HE 2020 – 2025 2020 – 2025 Regular meetings with 

highways authorities -

41



Draft
Eastleigh Borough Council

Eastleigh Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025 22

HEALTH & SOCIAL POLICY

HS1.1
Improve public awareness of air 
pollution levels and air quality 

issues through the EBC website

Public 
Information Via the Internet EBC 2020 2020 – 2025 

Availability of 
information on website

Webpage hits

Website updated by 
December 2020

HS1.2

Increase uptake of the airAlert 
service to help people manage 

their health in relation to air 
pollution

Public 
Information Other EBC / SCC 2021 2021 – 2022 Number of airAlert 

subscriptions

Campaign around 
airAlert run by May 

2022

HS1.3

Run regular public awareness 
campaigns to provide 

information and advice, and to 
promote services available

Public 
Information Other EBC 2020 – 2025 2020 – 2025 Number of campaigns 

run
Clean Air Day event 

in June 2020

HS1.4
Integrate AQ into our Health & 

Wellbeing engagement 
campaigns

Public 
Information Via the Internet EBC 2020 – 2025 2020 – 2025 Number of people 

reached by campaigns -

HS1.5

Work with local health 
professionals, health awareness 
groups and social prescribers to 

disseminate air quality 
information, particularly about 

airAlert 

Public 
Information Other EBC 2020 – 2025 2020 – 2025 

Number of people 
reached

Number of airAlert 
subscriptions 

-

HS2.1
Annually engage with schools in 
the borough for travel planning 
and to run clean air campaigns

Promoting 
Travel 

Alternatives
School Travel Plans EBC / SCC / HCC 2020 – 2025 2020 – 2025 Number of schools 

participating
Numbers reviewed 

annually

HS2.2

Facilitate at least three ‘School 
Streets’ events per year, 

organising temporary road 
closures outside schools

Traffic 
Management Other EBC / SCC / HCC 2020 – 2025 2020 – 2025 Number of events First event by June 

2020

HS3

Provide information and advice 
on the use of solid fuel burners 

through joint project with 
neighbouring authorities

Public 
Information Other EBC / SCC / 

NFDC / WCC
Complete 

2019 2020 – 2022 

Funding for project 
secured by March 

2020

Project completed and 
findings reported to 

DEFRA

Funding secured by 
March 2020

Project completed by 
June 2023

42



Draft
Eastleigh Borough Council

Eastleigh Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025 23

HOUSING

HOU1.1
Update planning guidance to 
require EV charging in new 

developments

Policy Guidance 
and 

Development 
Control

Air Quality Planning and 
Policy Guidance EBC 2020 2020 – 2021  

Updated planning 
SPD for air quality 

produced
December 2020

HOU1.2
Update resident parking policies 

to incentivise low emission 
vehicles

Promoting Low 
Emission 
Transport

Priority Parking for LEVs EBC 2021 2022 Parking policies 
updated September 2022

HOU1.3
Update planning guidance to 
require low NOx boilers to be 
installed in new developments

Policy Guidance 
and 

Development 
Control

Air Quality Planning and 
Policy Guidance EBC 2020 2020 – 2021  

Updated planning 
SPD for air quality 

produced
December 2020

HOU1.4

Update planning guidance to 
require new developments to 

employ use of green 
infrastructure to mitigate air 

quality impacts

Policy Guidance 
and 

Development 
Control

Air Quality Planning and 
Policy Guidance EBC 2020 2020 – 2021  

Updated planning 
SPD for air quality 

produced
December 2020

HOU1.5

Update planning guidance to 
require new developments are 
well served with sustainable 
transport facilities, to include 
walking, cycling and public 

transport.

Transport 
Planning & 

Infrastructure 
Various EBC 2020 2020 – 2021  

Updated planning 
SPD for air quality 

produced
December 2020

ECONOMY & REGENERATION

EC1.1 Update the EBC travel plan 
annually

Promoting 
Travel 

Alternatives
Workplace Travel Planning EBC 2020 – 2025 2020 – 2025 

Annual travel survey 
completed and plan 

updated

Next survey 
completed by June 

2020 

Next update 
completed by August 

2020 

EC1.2 Increase use of EBC pool bikes 
for staff travel

Promoting 
Travel 

Alternatives
Promotion of cycling EBC 2021 2022 – 2025 Number of pool bike 

users
Numbers reviewed 

annually

EC1.3
Update EBCs purchasing and 

contractor policies to ensure low 
emission options are used

Policy Guidance 
and 

Development 
Control

Sustainable Procurement 
Guidance EBC

Completed 
2019 2020 Procurement policy 

and guidance updated June 2020

43



Draft
Eastleigh Borough Council

Eastleigh Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025 24

EC1.4 Upgrade EBC’s internal fleet to 
low emission vehicles

Promoting Low 
Emission 
Transport

Company Vehicle 
Procurement -Prioritising 
uptake of low emission 

vehicles
EBC 2020 2020 – 2025 Proportion of fleet 

made up of LEVs
Car derived vans to be 

electric by 2025

EC2.1 Engage with businesses in the 
borough to do travel planning

Promoting 
Travel 

Alternatives
Workplace Travel Planning EBC / SCC / HCC 2020 2020 – 2025 Number of businesses 

engaged with
Numbers reviewed 

annually

EC2.2

Investigate adopting and 
promoting the ECO Stars Fleet 

Recognition Scheme to 
encourage local businesses to 

upgrade fleets

Vehicle Fleet 
Efficiency

Fleet efficiency and 
recognition schemes EBC 2021 2022 – 2025 

Number of businesses 
with ECO Stars 

accreditation

Numbers reviewed 
annually

EC2.3
Work with local businesses to 

encourage use of last mile 
electric scheme

Freight and 
Delivery 

Management
Other EBC 2020 2020 – 2025 Use of scheme Scheme usage 

reviewed annually

EC3

Support and encourage 
businesses to adopt flexible 
working practices through 

improved connectivity

Promoting 
Travel 

Alternatives

Encourage / Facilitate home-
working EBC 2022 2023 – 2025 Number of businesses 

engaged with
Numbers reviewed 

annually

EC4
Work with Southampton Airport 
to minimise the impact of their 

operations on air quality

Promoting Low 
Emission 
Transport

Other EBC 2020 – 2025  2020 – 2025  Travel plan in place Travel plan monitored 
annually

LOCAL AREA: CHANDLER’S FORD & HILTINGBURY

CFH1.1

Move location of continuous 
monitoring station currently at 

Steele Close and upgrade 
equipment

Other Other EBC 2020 2020 – 2021 Site move completed Site moved by 
December 2021

CFH1.2
Carry out focussed sampling 
exercises targeted at areas of 

local community concern
Other Other EBC 2021 2021 – 2022 

Better coverage of 
diffusion tube data and 

improved 
representation of 

exposure

Sampling study 
completed by March 

2022

CFH2

Provide an off road 
cycle/pedestrian route along Hut 
Hill, linking Chandler’s Ford with 

Chilworth

Transport 
Planning and 
Infrastructure

Cycle network HCC
Complete 

2019 2020 Delivery of scheme May 2020

CFH3
Consider potential locations and 
funding sources to install electric 

vehicle charging points

Promoting Low 
Emission 
Transport

Procuring alternative 
Refuelling infrastructure to 

promote Low Emission 
Vehicles, EV recharging, 

Gas fuel recharging

EBC 2022 2022 – 2023 Number of new charge 
points installed

Numbers reviewed 
annually

44



Draft
Eastleigh Borough Council

Eastleigh Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025 25

CFH4
Investigate expanding Co-

Wheels electric vehicle locations 
to Chandler’s Ford

Alternatives to 
private vehicle 

use
Car Clubs EBC 2022 2022 – 2023 Number of new Co-

Wheels locations
Numbers reviewed 

annually

LOCAL AREA: EASTLEIGH

ELAC1
Upgrade analysers at 

Southampton Road and The 
Point monitoring sites

Other Other EBC 2019 – 2020 2020 Equipment replaced December 2020

ELAC2
Conduct further studies of fleet 

make up and source 
apportionment for Eastleigh 

Other Other EBC 2020 2020 – 2021 Completion of study January 2022

ELAC3 Carry out trial of innovative 
monitoring equipment Other Other EBC 2019 2019 – 2020 Data collected for key 

junctions in Eastleigh December 2020

ELAC4
Consider pedestrianisation of 

Market Street, initially as a 
temporary event

Traffic 
Management Other EBC 2019 – 2020 2020

Temporary closure 
event organised and 

impact assessed

Pedestrianisation 
event by June 2020

Impact assessed by 
December 2020

ELAC5

Install electric vehicle charge 
points to include:

- Aldi, Chestnut Retail Park 
- Romsey Road Car Park, Upper 
Market Street.

Promoting Low 
Emission 
Transport

Procuring alternative 
Refuelling infrastructure to 

promote Low Emission 
Vehicles, EV recharging, 

Gas fuel recharging

EBC 2019 2020
Number of EV 
charging points 

installed
February 2021

ELAC6
Continue to seek approval and 

funding for the Chickenhall Lane 
Link Road

Transport 
Planning and 
Infrastructure

Other EBC / HCC
Long term 
aspiration

Long term 
aspiration Delivery of link road -

LOCAL AREA: BISHOPSTOKE, FAIR OAK & HORTON HEATH

BIFOHH
1

Improve traffic flow and increase 
facilities for active travel along 

Bishopstoke Road

Transport 
Planning and 
Infrastructure 

Other HCC 2019 2020

Completed traffic 
study 

Improvements 
implemented

Cycleway Phase II 
completed by March 

2020

BIFOHH
2

Consider potential locations and 
funding sources to install electric 

vehicle charging points

Promoting Low 
Emission 
Transport

Procuring alternative 
Refuelling infrastructure to 

promote Low Emission 
Vehicles, EV recharging, 

Gas fuel recharging

EBC 2022 2023 Number of new charge 
points installed

Numbers reviewed 
annually

BIFOHH
3

Use the development at Horton 
Heath as an opportunity to 

promote sustainable practices

Policy Guidance 
and 

Development 
Control

Air Quality Planning and 
Policy Guidance EBC 2019 – 2020 2021 – 2025 

Number of sustainable 
initiatives implemented 

in development
December 2025

45



Draft
Eastleigh Borough Council

Eastleigh Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025 26

LOCAL AREA: HEDGE END, WEST END & BOTLEY

HEWEB
1

Investigate expanding Co-
Wheels electric vehicle locations 

to Botley

Alternatives to 
private vehicle 

use
Car Clubs EBC 2021 2022 Number of new Co-

Wheels locations
Numbers reviewed 

annually

HEWEB
2

Consider potential locations and 
funding sources to install electric 

vehicle charging points

Promoting Low 
Emission 
Transport

Procuring alternative 
Refuelling infrastructure to 

promote Low Emission 
Vehicles, EV recharging, 

Gas fuel recharging

EBC 2021 2022 Number of new charge 
points installed

Numbers reviewed 
annually

HEWEB
3

Delivery of Botley Bypass 
scheme

Transport 
Planning and 
Infrastructure

Other HCC Completed
Works planned to 

start in 2020 / 
2021

Completion of bypass December 2023

HEWEB
4

Following completion of Botley 
Bypass, reduce HGVs using 

High Street

Traffic 
Management

Strategic highway 
improvements, Re-

prioritising road space away 
from cars, inc Access 

management, Selective 
vehicle priority, bus priority, 
high vehicle occupancy lane

EBC / HCC

Following 
completion of 

measure 
HEWEB3

Following 
completion of 

measure HEWEB3

Number of HGVs 
using Botley High 

Street
-

LOCAL AREA: BURSLEDON, HAMBLE-LE-RICE & HOUND

BHH1.1 Install new continuous analyser 
to monitor NO2 in the AQMA Other Other EBC 2021 2022 – 2023  New site installed June 2023

BHH1.2
Carry out focussed sampling 
exercises targeted at areas of 

local community concern
Other Other EBC 2020 2020 – 2021 

Better coverage of 
diffusion tube data and 

improved 
representation of 

exposure

Sampling study 
completed by 

February 2021

BHH2

Further study to learn more 
about the proportion of different 

vehicles by age and type on 
Hamble Lane and the A27

Other Other EBC 2020 2020 – 2021 Completion of study January 2022

BHH3
Liaise with neighbouring 

authorities on their activities on 
the A27

Policy Guidance 
and 

Development 
Control

Regional Groups Co-
ordinating programmes to 

develop Area wide 
Strategies to reduce 

emissions and improve air 
quality

EBC / FBC / SCC 2020 2020 – 2025 Information sharing -

46



Draft
Eastleigh Borough Council

Eastleigh Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025 27

BHH4.1
Work to increase patronage at 
Hamble, Netley and Bursledon 

railway stations

Transport 
Planning and 
Infrastructure

Public transport 
improvements-interchanges 

stations and services
EBC 2020 – 2025 2020 – 2025 Patronage at stations

SWR Communities 
Funding grant 

application determined 
by February 2020

Patronage reviewed 
annually

BHH4.2 Provide a car park at Hamble 
Station

Alternatives to 
private vehicle 

use
Rail based Park & Ride EBC / HCC 2019 – 2020 2020 – 2023 Car park completed Funding secured by 

June 2020

BHH5
Investigate expanding Co-

Wheels electric vehicle locations 
to the Local Area

Alternatives to 
private vehicle 

use
Car Clubs EBC 2021 2021 – 2022 Number of new car 

club locations
Numbers reviewed 

annually

BHH6

Engage with HCC on the 
Hamble Lane improvement 

scheme to ensure it supports 
our objectives

Traffic 
Management

UTC, Congestion 
management, traffic 

reduction
HCC

Public 
consultation 
completed 

2018

Awaiting funding Completion of scheme -

BHH7

Engage with HE on the M3 
Junction 8 / Windhover 

Roundabout improvements to 
ensure our objectives are 

supported

Traffic 
Management

UTC, Congestion 
management, traffic 

reduction
HE

Preferred 
scheme 

announced 
February 2019

Work planned to 
start March 2020 Completion of scheme -

BHH8
Consider potential locations and 
funding sources to install electric 

vehicle charging points

Promoting Low 
Emission 
Transport

Procuring alternative 
Refuelling infrastructure to 

promote Low Emission 
Vehicles, EV recharging, 

Gas fuel recharging

EBC 2021 2021 – 2022 Number of new charge 
points installed

Numbers reviewed 
annually

BHH9

Improve air circulation along 
Hamble Lane and the A27 

through the management of 
trees

Other Other EBC / HCC 2023 2024 Completion of scheme March 2025

47



Draft
Eastleigh Borough Council

Eastleigh Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025 28

Appendix A: Air Quality Management Area 
Maps

Figure 8 – Eastleigh AQMA No.1 (A335) (blue), Eastleigh AQMA No.2 (M3) 
(purple)

48



Draft
Eastleigh Borough Council

Eastleigh Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025 29

Figure 9 – Hamble Lane Area AQMA

Figure 10 – High Street Botley AQMA

49



Draft
Eastleigh Borough Council

Eastleigh Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025 30

Appendix B: Emission Reduction Calculations

Figure 11 – Inputs to the Emission Factor Toolkit used to calculate estimated emission reductions

NOx selected as pollutant of concern
Emission Rates output

Used for HGV EURO 
class calculations

Assumed at speed limit of road

Assumed at national split

Urban (not London)
From DfT traffic count data

2018 used as most recent traffic data available

50



Draft
Eastleigh Borough Council

Eastleigh Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025 31

Appendix C: Public Consultation Response
C.1 The Consultation Process
The Draft Air Quality Action Plan was released for public consultation from 2 

September to 11 October 2019.  During this time the document was available on the 

Council website with an accompanying questionnaire, included in Appendix D.  The 

draft plan consisted of introductory information on air quality as well as the proposed 

actions.  In the questionnaire people were asked to rate each action as a measure to 

improve air quality using a scale from ‘strongly support’ to ‘strongly oppose’.  The 

opportunity was also given to leave further comments in free text boxes.  

The consultation was advertised in the Borough news which is delivered to each 

household, on the Council’s website and through social media channels.  The 

information was also circulated to each Parish Council and other companies and 

organisations that were identified as having a likely interest.  Six events were held 

during the consultation period, with at least one in each Local Area.  These included 

drop in sessions held at the Council offices and community centres, as well as 

information displays at supermarkets and shopping centres.  At all events, Eastleigh 

Borough Council staff were available to answer questions and talk to members of the 

public.

C.2 Response Received
In total 116 people made a formal response to the consultation by filling out the 

questionnaire provided.  A number of other comments were received at the events 

and through e-mail contact, these were considered as part of the response but are 

not included in the statistics quoted which were calculated from the questionnaire 

answers.  

Only four questionnaires were received from postcodes outside of Eastleigh Borough 

and from within the Borough there were responses from all Local Areas (LACs).  The 

highest numbers were seen from Eastleigh (ELAC) and Bursledon, Hamble-le-Rice & 

Hound (BHH), likely because these areas are particularly affected by poor air quality 

(Figure 1).  ELAC contains two Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs) while the 

AQMA in BHH has recently been extended.  The higher level of engagement from 

those people most affected by poor air quality is also shown by 41% of the responses 

51



Draft
Eastleigh Borough Council

Eastleigh Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025 32

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

CFH Eastleigh BIFOHH HEWEB BHH Out of EBC

Re
sp

on
se

s

LAC

Responses per LAC

Figure 12 – Consultation responses received split by Local Area of 
residence

being from postcodes within 500m of a declared AQMA; 36% of responses from age 

categories classed as vulnerable and 23% of responses reporting having a long term 

illness.  Equalities data is further analysed as part of an Equalities Impact 

Assessment which will accompany the Action Plan. 

Three questions allowed free text comments and 83% of those who filled in the 

multiple choice question also left comments in this section, demonstrating a high 

level of interest and engagement from those who responded.  This was also shown 

by answers to the section which gave a list of suggested activities to help improve air 

quality and reduce the effects of pollution (Figure 2).  Of all responses, 92% of 

people currently do at least one, with walking, not idling engines and taking public 

transport being the most frequent answers.  83% of people suggested they would 

consider doing more in at least one area, with the most popular of these being 

signing up to airAlert, replacing their current vehicle with a low emission option and 

travelling at lower pollution routes and times.  These activities are things that can be 

assisted by Council information or incentives and have been noted as areas where 

people would like to do more. 

52



Draft
Eastleigh Borough Council

Eastleigh Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025 33

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

Not able to/Not applicable

Would do in the future

Currently do

Figure 13 – Number of people who do/would consider activities relating to 
improved air quality

C.3 Support for Actions
Individuals were asked to rate their level of support for the proposed actions, the 

response was consistently positive and support outweighed opposition across the 

board.  Opposition to any single action was not above 30%, with the vast majority of 

actions receiving less than 10% opposition.  Out of the 44 actions, 17 had less than 

2% opposition.  The actions which received the highest percentage of positive 

responses were:

- Monitor pollutant concentrations across the Borough (98%)

- Work in partnership with other Councils and key groups (97%)

- Work to reduce Eastleigh Borough Council’s emissions (95%)

- Work in partnership to improve public transport services (94%)

- Work with local businesses to reduce their emissions (94%)

- Engage with other organisations on their highways improvement schemes 

(94%)

These broad actions make up the core of the Action Plan and will continue to do so.

53



Draft
Eastleigh Borough Council

Eastleigh Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025 34

C.4 Response Themes
Some key themes emerged in the comments and are discussed in further detail 

below:

C.4.1 Public Transport

Public transport was one of the most frequently mentioned topics with 19% of people 

including this in their replies.  The support for improvements was clear throughout 

these comments with routes, timing and price of services all highlighted as current 

barriers to use. 

“Frequent, reliable, and widespread public transport is the only way.”

“Public transport needs to be frequent, linked with other authorities to make it 

convenient and cheaper so it would be appealing and affordable for people to use.”

“Introduce a park-and-ride "light" service for commuters…”

“…there is no car parking/bike parking at Hamble train station.”

“…currently all services are routed via Southampton.”

C.4.2 Cycling

Cycling was mentioned by 16% of people and within these comments the provision of 

infrastructure was referenced most often.  As well as requests for improvements to 

current facilities and specific locations for new cycle paths, comments were also 

made around other cycling facilities, awareness and training.

“Training to build confidence for cyclists”

“Dedicated cycle ways that are segregated from motorised vehicle traffic.”

“Join up cycling routes…”

“Encourage use of ebikes.”   

C.4.3 Walking and Pedestrianisation 

Views on pedestrianisation included some concern at the potential effect on 

businesses and the need to preserve access for disabled people.  However 80% of 

comments on this topic were positive about traffic free days, across the wider 

Borough as well as the suggested Market Street action.  

54



Draft
Eastleigh Borough Council

Eastleigh Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025 35

“Try traffic-free days on various roads in the Borough, to show people how pleasant 

life can be without cars dominating their environment…”

“Look at making areas around schools pedestrian only”

C.4.4 Housing and Development

Housing and development was the most frequent theme raised in the comments 

section, mentioned by 23% of people.  When asked to rate the proposed action 93% 

of responses were positive, showing that the Council’s approach to deliver high 

quality sustainable development is supported.  While some comments gave ideas for 

sustainable housing, there were also significant concerns raised with the amount of 

development and the approach to this.  This action remains a key part of the Action 

Plan and the need to work closely with the planning department on this issue is 

recognised.

“Stop development in areas already high in emissions…”

“Plan to build a sustainable, high performance house.”

“…all new housing should have charging points for each house…”

C.4.5 Electric Vehicles

Varied responses were received on the subject of electric vehicles, and while lots of 

people were positive about their use and the plans to expand the infrastructure 

available, concerns were raised on the wider environmental implications of their use.  

Encouraging ownership through parking charges was the most contentious action in 

the plan, with a negative reaction from 26% of people and concern that this would 

disproportionately affect those on a low income.

“Would be useful to have charging stations nearby…”

“…it can be argued that EVs are simply moving the emissions to a different 

location…”

“…would need assistance to buy an electric car…”

“The aim should be to get cars off the road not to replace one type of car with 

another.”

“Please consider electric vehicle charging points for on street permit parking.”

55



Draft
Eastleigh Borough Council

Eastleigh Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025 36

 C.5 Local Areas
In the sections focussed on each Local Area, responses show that the majority of 

people were supportive of local action.  Although these questions were not required 

answers, 84% of people gave views on other Local Areas as well as their own.  This 

highlights that interest spreads beyond their Local Area and there is recognition that 

widespread action is needed to tackle the issue of poor air quality.  Of the local 

actions, the most consistent support was seen for those in Bishopstoke, Fair Oak and 

Horton Heath (BIFOHH), ELAC and BHH.  This is a reflection on the high response 

rate from these areas and the location of the AQMAs, including the recent extension 

of the Hamble Lane Area AQMA highlighting ongoing issues in this area.  Of the 

responses to the local actions the highest positive responses were for:

- Improve traffic flow and increase facilities for active travel along Bishopstoke 

Road (78%)

- Carry out trial of innovative monitoring equipment in ELAC (78%)

- Consider installing electric vehicle charging points in BIFOHH (74%)

Key local themes raised in the comments included: 

- Chickenhall Lane, with several people seeking prioritisation for the link road.

- The need for improvements on Bishopstoke Road

- Concerns around congestion on Hamble Lane  

These areas are all identified in the plan and will continue to be key features.  

C.6 Changes Made
To reflect the views provided in this consultation some changes will be incorporated 

into the final Air Quality Action Plan.  The results will also be taken into account when 

prioritising actions.  The following list summarises those changes and updates which 

have already been identified but this will be an ongoing process as the Action Plan is 

prepared for consideration by Cabinet in early 2020.

56



Draft
Eastleigh Borough Council

Eastleigh Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025 37

Original Actions Changes

Monitor pollutant concentrations 

across the Borough

Several requests for monitoring in specific locations were received.  The Council regularly 

reviews and updates monitoring locations and the action will be expanded to include this 

information.  When considering new locations, those requested will be considered.

Promote the use of electric vehicles 

and develop a network of publicly 

available electric charging points 

across the Borough

This action will be updated to include investigating incentives for electric vehicle use and 

ownership. This reflects a number of concerns raised regarding the cost of EV ownership. 

New Action

Use of vegetation was brought up in several responses.  This should be considered carefully as 

the effect on pollution levels is disputed and it can act as a barrier, trapping pollution in certain 

areas.  However it does have a beneficial effect on the environment generally and can be used 

effectively.  An action will be added to the environment section to cover this. 

Continue to improve and extend the 

walking and cycling network

Cycling actions will be broadened to include further ideas raised in the consultation, including 

promotion of e-bikes, maintenance of existing facilities and provision of parking.

Run campaigns aimed at reducing 

the number of single occupancy 

cars on the Borough’s roads

This action has been broadened to cover all campaigns aimed at reducing vehicle emissions 

and specifies anti-idling campaigns as another example.

Consult on encouraging ownership 

of low emission vehicles through 

differential parking charges

This action is intended to identify ways of encouraging electric vehicle ownership through the 

use of incentives.  Concerns around the cost of owning an electric vehicle were raised and this 

would be taken in account for any scheme developed. The action on the promotion of EVs has 

also been amended to reflect these comments. 

57



Draft
Eastleigh Borough Council

Eastleigh Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025 38

Provide information and advice on 

the use of solid fuel burners

EBC are currently working with neighbouring authorities on a bid for DEFRA funding to run a 

public engagement campaign on this issue and the action has been updated to reflect this 

work. 

Consider pedestrianisation of 

Market Street / Carry out temporary 

road closures at schools

There was some enthusiasm for these projects and support for traffic free days on roads 

across the wider Borough, so this will be added to the overarching ‘Transport’ section as well 

as specifically for Market Street.  To address concerns about access, provision of disabled 

parking will be considered.

New Action Actions around monitoring have also been added to the relevant Local Area sections.

General Update
To provide more clarity on the timescales and method of assessing the success of actions, 

clearer dates and KPIs have been added where appropriate. 

General Update

Action numbers have been added to allow easier reference and so the link between the 

summary Action Plan and the DEFRA Action Plan is clear.  Where actions from the summary 

Action Plan have been split into several parts in the DEFRA Action Plan this is denoted by 

using 1.1, 1.2 etc.

Table 7 – Changes made as a result of consultation feedback

58



Draft
Eastleigh Borough Council

Eastleigh Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025 39

C.7 Air Quality Working Group Comments
An Air Quality Working Group meeting was held on December 18 2019 to review the 

AQAP.  Their comments are listed below along with details of the proposed 

response.

Comments Changes

More detailed information on the 

introduction of EV charging points in 

business locations

Action ENV3 has been amended to 

include a specific reference to business 

locations.

Councillors requested clarification on the 

limitations of the Ricardo modelling data 

referenced in the AQAP supporting text

The Ricardo modelling report was 

reviewed to ensure the AQAP was 

consistent with its findings and no 

changes are proposed

Councillors requested further 

consideration of the impact of airport and 

railway activities on air quality

The AQAP contains an action to work 

with Southampton Airport on minimising 

the impact of their operations on air 

quality (EC4)

Action TR4.2 has been updated to 

include reference to work with rail 

operators and network rail to minimise 

the impact of emissions from rail 

transport

Table 8 – Responses to comments made by the Air Quality Working Group

59



Draft
Eastleigh Borough Council

Eastleigh Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025 40

Appendix D: Public Consultation Questionnaire
Please read the draft Air Quality Action Plan and then give us your comments by 

completing the questionnaire.  For each proposed action, please rate it as a measure 

to improve air quality, using the scale:

- Strongly support

- Support

- Neither support nor oppose

- Opposed

- Strong opposed

- Don’t know/no opinion

An answer is required for each of the actions which relate to the whole Borough, but 

the sections which relate to individual locations are optional.  There is also the 

chance to suggest your own actions and leave general comments.

St
ro

ng
ly

 su
pp

or
t

Su
pp

or
t

N
ei

th
er

 su
pp

or
t 

no
r o

pp
os

e

O
pp

os
ed

St
ro

ng
ly

 
op

po
se

d

Do
n’

t k
no

w
/n

o 
op

in
io

n

Environment

Monitor pollutant concentrations across the Borough

Work in partnership with other local councils and key 
groups
Promote the use of electric vehicles and develop a 
network of publically available electric vehicle charge 
points across the Borough

Transport
Create a walking and cycling strategy to promote and 
encourage travel by these methods
Continue to improve and extend the walking and 
cycling network in line with the new walking and 
cycling strategy
Run campaigns aimed at reducing the number of 
single occupancy cars on the Borough’s roads
Work in partnership to improve public transport 
services
Work with taxis and other licensed operators to 
reduce emissions

60



Draft
Eastleigh Borough Council

Eastleigh Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025 41

Promote and expand car clubs
Increase availability of bicycle hire schemes
Consult on encouraging ownership of low emission 
vehicles through differential parking charges
Use low cost sensor study to understand relationships 
between traffic movements and air quality to 
influence future road management and design
Engage with Hampshire County Council and Highways 
England on their highways improvement schemes to 
ensure they support our work on air quality

Health & Social Policy
Increase public awareness of air quality issues and the 
benefits of an active lifestyle
Carry out school projects and campaigns
Provide information and advice on the use of solid 
fuel burners

Housing
Ensure that development adheres to policies set out in 
the emerging Local Plan relating to air pollution 
impacts and supports high quality sustainable 
development, particularly for developments in or 
close to Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs)

Economy & Regeneration
Eastleigh Borough Council will work to reduce its 
emissions
Work with local businesses on reducing their 
emissions
Support and encourage businesses to adopt flexible 
working practices through improved connectivity
Work with Southampton Airport to minimise the 
impact of their operations on air quality

Your Local Area- Bishopstoke, Fair Oak & Horton Heath
Improve traffic flow and increase facilities for active 
travel along Bishopstoke Road
Consider potential locations and funding sources to 
install electric vehicle charging points
Use the development at Horton Heath as an 
opportunity to promote sustainable practices

Your Local Area- Bursledon, Hamble-le-Rice & Hound
Further study to learn more about the proportion of 
different vehicles by age and type in the Hamble Lane 
Area AQMA
Liaise with other authorities on their activities on the 
A27
Work to increase the number of people using Hamble, 
Netley and Bursledon railway stations

61



Draft
Eastleigh Borough Council

Eastleigh Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025 42

Investigate expanding Co-Wheels electric vehicle 
locations to Hamble
Highway improvements for Hamble Lane
Highway improvements for M27 J8 and Windhover 
Roundabout
Consider potential locations and funding sources to 
install electric vehicle charging points
Improve air circulation along Hamble Lane and the 
A27 through the management of trees

Your Local Area- Chandler’s Ford & Hiltingbury
Provide an off road cycle/pedestrian route along Hut 
Hill, linking Chandler's Ford with Chilworth
Consider potential locations and funding sources to 
install electric vehicle charging points
Investigate expanding Co-Wheels electric vehicle 
locations to Chandler’s Ford

Your Local Area- Eastleigh
Further study to learn more about the proportion of 
different vehicle types in Eastleigh
Carry out trial of innovative monitoring equipment
Consider pedestrianisation of Market Street, initially 
as a temporary event
Install electric vehicle charge points
Continue to seek approval and funding for the 
Chickenhall Lane Link Road

Your Local Area- Hedge End, West End & Botley
Investigate expanding Co-Wheels electric vehicle 
locations to Botley
Consider potential locations and funding sources to 
install electric vehicle charging points
Delivery of Botley Bypass scheme
Following completion of Botley Bypass, reduce HGVs 
using High Street

62



Draft
Eastleigh Borough Council

Eastleigh Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025 43

Other Comments
What actions do you take to help improve air quality and reduce the effects of pollution?

Currently do Would do in 
the future

Not able 
to/Not 

applicable
Walk to complete local journeys
Cycle to complete local journeys
Take public transport instead of using your 
car
Work from home
Leave your car at home for the school run
Leave your car at home for the commute
Turn off your engine while in stationary 
traffic
Use a car club or liftshare scheme
Replace your current vehicle with an 
electric or low emission vehicle
Follow DEFRA advice on approved fuel and 
appliances when using wood burning 
stoves
Sign up to airAlert
Use pollution information to plan travel for 
lower pollution routes or times
Other actions (please tell us here)

Are there any actions not included in our plan that 
you would like to see, or would help you with the 
activities listed above?
Do you have any other comments on the action 
plan?

In addition the questionnaire contained a number of ‘About You’ questions to provide 

some information on where responses had been received from and to allow the 

Council to carry out an Equalities Impact Assessment.

63



Draft
Eastleigh Borough Council

Eastleigh Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025 44

Appendix E: Air Quality Working Group Terms 
of Reference

Purpose
To oversee, steer and assist delivery of Air Quality work at the Council, to include 

monitoring and implementation of the action plan to improve air quality, focussed on 

the designated Air Quality Management Areas.  To provide links and ensure 

consistency between this work and the overarching Climate Change and 

Environmental Strategy, to influence and inform other policy areas across the Council 

which may have an impact on air quality and deliver outcomes listed in the Corporate 

Plan.

Roles and Responsibilities
The group will

- Overview:
o Air quality monitoring
o Delivery of the action plan to improve air quality
o Communications and engagement with the wider community
o Other air quality projects

- Identify new policies or actions that could have a positive effect on air quality 
- Be consulted on applications for funding
- Provide support with responses to scrutiny
- Facilitate partnership working
- Receive an annual update on the state of air quality from data collected and 

updates on progress against the Action Plan at each quarterly meeting
- Disseminate information to Local Area Committees and Cabinet
- Inform and scrutinise policies and programmes that may impact on air quality

Core Membership
Representation from each of the Local Area Committees

Cabinet Portfolio Lead for Transport

Cabinet Portfolio Lead for Environment

Cabinet Portfolio Lead for Health and Wellbeing

Officer Support 
Representative for the Local Area Managers

64



Draft
Eastleigh Borough Council

Eastleigh Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025 45

Head of Environment

Strategy Lead (Environment)

Senior Pollution Control Officer

Pollution Control Officer

Quorum
Quarter of core membership of working group (no less than 3).

The Meeting
Meetings will be arranged quarterly, with the option for additional ones if required.

65



Draft
Eastleigh Borough Council

Eastleigh Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025 46

Glossary of Terms
Abbreviation Description

AQAP Air Quality Action Plan - A detailed description of measures, 
outcomes, achievement dates and implementation methods, 
showing how the local authority intends to achieve air quality limit 
values’

AQMA Air Quality Management Area – An area where air pollutant 
concentrations exceed / are likely to exceed the relevant air quality 
objectives. AQMAs are declared for specific pollutants and 
objectives

AQS Air Quality Strategy

ASR Air quality Annual Status Report

BIFOHH Bishopstoke, Fair Oak and Horton Heath

BHH Bursledon, Hamble-le-Rice and Hound

CFH Chandlers Ford and Hiltingbury

Defra Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs

DfT Department for Transport

EBC Eastleigh Borough Council

ELAC Eastleigh Local Area

EU European Union

FBC Fareham Borough Council

HCC Hampshire County Council

HEWEB Hedge End, West End and Botley

LAQM Local Air Quality Management

NFDC New Forest District Council

NO2 Nitrogen Dioxide

NOx Nitrogen Oxides

PM10 Airborne particulate matter with an aerodynamic diameter of 10µm 
(micrometres or microns) or less

66



Draft
Eastleigh Borough Council

Eastleigh Borough Council Air Quality Action Plan 2020 – 2025 47

PM2.5 Airborne particulate matter with an aerodynamic diameter of 2.5µm 
or less

SCC Southampton City Council

SWR South Western Railway

WCC Winchester City Council

67



This page is intentionally left blank



Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) 

Title of EqIA: Air Quality Action Plan

Brief description of  
the Proposal:

Eastleigh Borough Council has a statutory duty to produce an Air 
Quality Action Plan (AQAP) and monitor air quality within the four 
declared Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs).

Following consultation with DEFRA guidelines the Council is 
combining the existing AQAPs into one Borough-wide plan to 
cover all AQMAs.  This AQAP will identify both overarching 
Borough-wide actions and targeted actions for individual 
locations.  It is a formal requirement that the Council carry out a 
public consultation as part of the development of an AQAP and 
the Council will be engaging with residents, local businesses and 
key stakeholders throughout. 

This EqIA contains information from Public Health England.  This 
can be seen in more detail in the report ‘Health Matters: air 
pollution’ published on 14 November 2018.

The overall aim of the AQAP is to improve air quality in Eastleigh 
Borough from 2020 to 2025.

Assessment:

For all of categories below please consider:
1. Does this proposal eliminate unlawful discrimination?
2. Does this proposal advance equality of opportunity between people who share 

a protected characteristic and those who do not share it? 
3. Does this proposal foster good relations between people who share a 

protected characteristic and those who do not share it?

Statutory Considerations: Please highlight what impact could there be on people 
with protected characteristics. 

69



Age: Children and older people are both particularly susceptible to 
the effects of air pollution.  In early life exposure can affect lung 
function and growth; for older people it can increase the risk of 
heart problems and stroke.  The AQAP aims to improve air 
quality across the Borough, with a focus on AQMAs which have 
been declared on the basis of public exposure.  Improvements 
will reduce exposure for everyone but the positive effects will 
be particularly significant for age groups vulnerable to air 
pollution, contributing to reducing inequality.

Disability: People with existing health conditions are particularly 
susceptible to the effects of air pollution.  Exposure to poor air 
quality can exacerbate symptoms of asthma and cardiovascular 
disease.  It also increases the risk of heart problems and stroke 
for those with existing cardiovascular and respiratory 
conditions.  The AQAP aims to improve air quality across the 
Borough, with a focus on AQMAs which have been declared on 
the basis of public exposure.  Improvements will reduce 
exposure for everyone but the positive effects will be 
particularly significant for those with health conditions which 
make them vulnerable to air pollution, contributing to reducing 
inequality.

Gender: NONE

Gender reassignment: NONE

Pregnancy and 
Maternity:

Exposure to poor air quality can affect a foetus within the first 
few weeks, with evidence emerging for resulting low birth 
weights and premature birth.  Therefore pregnant women are 
also particularly susceptible to air pollution.  As with other 
vulnerable groups, the aim of the AQAP to improve air quality 
will have positive effects particularly significant for them, 
contributing to reducing inequality.

Race: NONE

Religion or belief: NONE

Sexual Orientation: NONE

70



Marriage and civil 
partnership:

NONE

Non statutory considerations: Please highlight what impact could there be on 
people experiencing social deprivation.

Social deprivation: Although air pollution can be harmful to everyone, people who 
live in more polluted areas are more affected.  This tends to 
include low-income communities as they are more likely to live 
in areas with poorer air quality due to lower value properties 
often being located in more congested areas.  They are also 
more likely to fit other criteria which indicate poorer health in 
general, making them more susceptible.

Some of the proposed actions in the AQAP may have a 
financial impact on residents.  The implications of these must 
be considered in relation to people experiencing social 
deprivation as there is a risk that they would be 
disproportionately disadvantaged.  

What engagement or 
consultation has been 
carried out?

The Council held a public consultation on a draft version of the 
AQAP from 2 September 2019 to 11 October 2019, comprising 
an online questionnaire and six information events held across 
all of the Local Areas, as listed below.  The first two of these 
were run as evening drop in sessions but received relatively 
low turnout.  As a result a further four events were organised as 
display sessions, aiming for lunchtimes in areas where a high 
footfall was expected.  A much higher level of engagement was 
seen at these events and there was an increase in response 
rate towards the end of the consultation period which is likely a 
result of holding these.

Tuesday 17 September
17:00 – 20:00
Eastleigh House, Eastleigh

Monday 23 September  
15:00 – 19:00
Pilands Wood Centre, Bursledon

Thursday 3 October
11:30 – 14:00
Swan Shopping Centre, Eastleigh

Friday 4 October
11:00 – 13:00

71



Waitrose, Chandlers Ford

Monday 7 October
11:30 – 14:00
Hedge End Retail Park, Hedge End

Monday 7 October
17:00 – 19:00
Woodland Community Centre, Fair Oak

The consultation was publicised in the Borough newsletter, 
which was delivered to every household during the first two 
weeks of September 2019, and through periodic social media 
posts throughout the consultation.  These included specific 
posts to advertise the events.  Information about the 
consultation was also e-mailed directly to key groups and 
stakeholders, including targeted engagement with vulnerable 
groups and protected characteristics as detailed below.  In total 
116 people made a formal response to the consultation by 
filling out the questionnaire provided and further comments 
were also received at the events.    

Age
Engagement with vulnerable age groups was good, with 38% 
of people who provided their age being 65 or over.  No 
responses were received from or on behalf of children, but 
efforts were made to engage younger people through 
circulation of the consultation to schools contacts.  

Disability
It is expected that people with health conditions which make 
them more vulnerable to air pollution are more likely to engage 
with air quality issues, and this was seen in the responses.  Of 
the people providing an answer to this question, 28% reported 
having a long term illness.  Further contact with this group was 
made through a visit to the local ‘Breathe Easy’ group, a 
support group for those with lung conditions, on 4 October 
2019.  

Race
Efforts were made to engage the BAME community through 
direct e-mailing to ethnic minority groups registered with the 
Council and by involving the Council’s Community Engagement 
Specialist to promote it with their contacts.  Of the people who 
identified their ethnic origin in the questionnaire, 93% chose 
English/Welsh/Scottish/Northern Irish/British, which is roughly 
representative of the proportion we would expect for the 
Borough.  The Council recognises the importance of continued 
engagement throughout the AQAP period.  

72



What could reduce 
any adverse impact on 
these groups?

Although poor air quality has an effect on everyone, at all 
stages of life, the scale of this depends on factors such as the 
level of exposure and susceptibility to the health effects.  It is 
important to seek feedback from those groups which air 
pollution has the biggest impact on, to ensure their concerns 
are taken into account as part of the AQAP development 
process and maximise the benefit of the actions for them.  

The aim of the AQAP is to improve air quality across the 
Borough, this will benefit everyone but particularly those groups 
who are most affected by poor air quality.  In this way, the 
AQAP is working to reduce inequality and adverse impacts on 
vulnerable groups but to achieve this as effectively as possible 
the AQAP also contains actions targeted at these vulnerable 
groups, as shown in the table below.  

Continuing consideration for these groups is also required, 
when determining actions and particularly when implementing 
those actions which could have financial implications on 
residents.

Action Plan 

Activity Outcome Timeframe Person 
responsible

Engagement and 
targeted 
awareness 
raising with 
vulnerable age 
groups

Projects and campaigns in 
schools raise awareness and 
result in behaviour changes to 
benefit children.

Integration of air quality 
messages into Health & 
Wellbeing engagement 
campaigns raises awareness 
in older people.

Achieved through measures:

HS1.2, 1.4, 1.5, 2.1 & 2.2

Annual targets 
for schools 
projects are held 
within the AQAP.

Campaigns 
scheduled 
throughout 
AQAP period 
2020 – 2025. 

Pollution Control 
Officer 

Health and 
Wellbeing Team 

Hampshire 
County Council 
Travel Planners

Engagement and 
targeted 
awareness 

Integration of air quality 
messages into Health & 
Wellbeing engagement 

Throughout 
AQAP 

Pollution Control 
Officer

73



raising with 
people with 
existing health 
conditions

campaigns raises awareness 
in people with existing health 
conditions.  

Work with local health 
professionals and health 
awareness groups to raise 
awareness and encourage 
behaviour changes to benefit 
people with existing health 
conditions.  

Achieved through measures:

HS1.2, 1.3 & 1.5

implementation 
2020 – 2025. Health and 

Wellbeing Team

Target actions to 
benefit those 
experiencing 
social deprivation

Actions targeted at areas with 
poorest air quality and most 
congestion, which provides 
maximum benefit to those 
people living in these areas.  

Monitoring is focussed on 
these areas and additional 
monitoring carried out at 
locations of community 
concern.  

Achieved through AQAP 
measures as a whole, which 
are focussed on designated 
Air Quality Management 
Areas.  Monitoring covered by 
measures:

ENV1.1, 1.2 & 1.3
CFH1.1 & 1.2
ELAC1 & 3
BHH1.1 & 1.2

Throughout 
AQAP 
implementation 
2020 – 2025.  

Community 
monitoring 
projects 
scheduled for 
2020 and 2021.

Pollution Control 
Officer

Where 
appropriate, 
carry out further 
consultation and 
EqIAs for 
individual actions 
to inform best 
practice for their 
implementation.

Ensuring continuing 
consideration for vulnerable 
groups throughout the AQAP 
period.

As required 
during the 
implementation 
of the AQAP 
2020 – 2025.

The Environment 
Team

74



Lead Officer: Isabel Hessey

Manager: Bret Willers

Corporate Director: Andy Trayer

Date completed: 10 January 2020

75



This page is intentionally left blank



Eastleigh Borough Council

POLICY AND PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY PANEL

22 JANUARY 2020

DRAFT CORPORATE ENFORCEMENT STRATEGY

Report of the Strategic Planning Manager

Recommendation

It is recommended that  

Councillors comment on the attached draft Strategy (Appendix 1).

Summary

This Strategy provides an overarching set of principles for all enforcement carried out by 
the Council.  Enforcement policies will determine specific approaches for individual areas 
of enforcement.

Statutory Powers

Legislative and Regulatory Reform Act 2006
Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 i.e. the Local Authority's general power of competence,
including power to act for the benefit of its area or persons resident or present in its area.

Corporate Plan Objectives

1. This report relates to a number of Corporate Plan objectives due to the way 
different enforcement activities aim to improve the environment, health and 
wellbeing, and economy of the Borough. 

Introduction

2. Councillors have previously suggested a renewed policy approach to 
enforcement. Previous policy documents were out of date and insufficient to 
support any legal proceedings.  At the same time the Council’s Internal Audit 
team identified that the Council lacked an overarching enforcement strategy. 

Corporate Enforcement Principles

3. The Council carries out a wide range of regulatory functions under various 
statutes, regulations and guidance.  Good practice and industry bodies 

77

Agenda Item 7



Eastleigh Borough Council

suggest that such regulatory activity is carried out according to a set of 
principles that are most likely to result in sustainable positive results for the 
Borough’s residents and businesses.

4. Councillors have signalled that a number of policy principles should be 
included:

(a) Minimising delays to resolving enforcement cases.

(b) Improved communication of activity and results of enforcement activity 
to promote confidence in the Council.

(c) Increased enforcement in relation to development so that the supply of 
housing is increased but without negative impact on communities.

5. Local Area Committees, town and parish councils have expressed priorities 
for enforcement and these have been considered by Strategic Planning Leads 
and Lead Specialists as they develop enforcement policies and service plans 
in line with resources.  

6. Discussions with a range of internal stakeholders (Lead Specialists, Internal 
Audit, Local Area Manager (BHH), Corporate Director (Delivery)) has led to 
the approach to enforcement proposed here i.e. an overarching Corporate 
Enforcement Strategy which includes both generic enforcement good practice 
principles and overall policy approaches set by Councillors.  Detailed 
approaches for specific areas of enforcement is articulated in bespoke policies 
for each area e.g. planning, parking, HMO licencing, noise nuisance etc. and 
reflected in annual operational service plans.

7. Such policies are developed through discussions with relevant Cabinet 
members and key staff such that the approach and desired level of 
enforcement activity is matched with the necessary level of resource. All of 
these policies will relate to and reflect the overarching principles within the 
Corporate Enforcement Strategy.

Next Steps

8. This Strategy will be the subject of consultation with other Hampshire local 
authorities, statutory external agencies such as the Police and Fire and 
Rescue Service, local business organisations and representatives as well as 
public consultation on the Council website. The draft Strategy was approved 
for consultation by Cabinet in October 2019; its full consultation was delayed 
due to the timing of the General Election and Local Plan hearings. 
Consultation is now being planned for January/February 2020, with a final 
version returning to Cabinet in March for approval. This Strategy will be 
reviewed annually by relevant Lead Specialists.  It is proposed that the 
Corporate Director for Strategy be authorised to reapprove the Strategy 
annually and make minor amendments to the adopted Strategy as required.

78



Eastleigh Borough Council

Financial Implications

9. The attached Strategy has no financial implications on its own, although it 
implies that increased capacity may be required in Legal Services and 
Communications. Service managers are aware of this and are monitoring any 
increases in activity arising from individual types of enforcement, to inform 
future budget planning.

Risk Assessment

10. The Council risks having its prosecutions challenged and having an 
incoherent approach to enforcement unless it adopts a set of guiding 
principles.  

Equality and Diversity Implications

11. The Equality Act is relevant to the decision in this report as the decision 
relates to eliminating discrimination, advancing equality of opportunity, or 
fostering good relations between different people.  Different enforcement 
activities may affect groups in different ways.  Equality impacts will be 
assessed as part of the public consultation, and any necessary modifications 
to the Strategy recommended to Cabinet.

12. Equality impacts for specific enforcement areas (planning, parking, noise etc) 
will be assessed in relation to those specific policies.

13. The Strategy includes (at paragraph 1.3) the requirement to consider how 
enforcement relates to deprivation and socio-economic disadvantage and in 
Section 7 how the Council will address issues of vulnerability. 

Conclusion

14. The attached Strategy is recommended for comment.

DICCON BRIGHT
STRATEGIC PLANNING MANAGER

Date: 20 December 2019
Contact Officer: Diccon Bright
Tel No: 023 8068 8436
e-mail: Diccon.bright@eastleigh.gov.uk
Appendices Attached: Draft Corporate Enforcement Strategy – Appendix 1
Report No

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information.

Internal Audit report
Enforcement Review

79



Eastleigh Borough Council

TO BE DETACHED BY DEMOCRATIC SERVICES

REPORT MONITORING FORM
THIS FORM MUST BE COMPLETED FOR ALL REPORTS!

DATE OF COMMITTEE: 22 JAN 2020

COMMITTEE: P&P

SUBJECT/TITLE OF REPORT: DRAFT CORPORATE ENFORCEMENT 
STRATEGY

KEY DECISION? no [TYPE YES, NO or N/A]

PEOPLE WHO HAVE BEEN CONSULTED IN THE PREPARATION OF THE REPORT
Reports that are not approved by all the necessary officers and members will not appear on the 
agenda 

Name
Departments that MUST be consulted

Date approval/ 
comments 
received

Your Management Team Overviewer

Councillor House

Committee Chair

Diccon Bright – For all Cabinet and Council reports

Relevant Area Manager (for LAC reports)

Legal Services

Democratic Services 

Financial Services
Others who have been consulted:

Unit Heads/Officers likely to have an interest in the 
report

Members likely to have an interest in the report

Final sign off by Report Author and/or Unit Head

80



Eastleigh Borough Council

Corporate Enforcement Strategy

October 2019

Version 2.5 - 10 October 2019
Consultation draft

Author Diccon Bright, Strategic Planning 
Manager

Date approved
Approved by
Date to be reviewed by 1 year from approval date above

Contents

1 INTRODUCTION

2 SCOPE AND MEANING OF ‘ENFORCEMENT’

3 UNDERLYING PRINCIPLES

4 DECISION MAKING

5 NOTIFYING ALLEGED OFFENDERS

6 ENFORCEMENT OPTIONS

7 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES AND PROTECTION OF HUMAN 

RIGHTS

8 PUBLICITY AND COMMUNICATIONS

9 STATUS OF THIS STRATEGY

APPENDIX A AREAS OF ENFORCEMENT ACTIVITY LIST

APPENDIX B TYPES OF ENFORCEMENT ACTIVITY DETAILS

81



1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Eastleigh Borough Council (the Council) has duties and responsibilities 
delegated to it by Central Government.  Some of the duties involve 
regulation and enforcement of various laws designed to protect the health 
and well being of the residents, consumers and workers of the Borough, 
to support activities, and to protect the environment in which people work 
and live. 

1.2 Aside from statutory duties, enforcement activity supports the 
achievement of the Council’s vision and a number of objectives in the 
Corporate Plan 2015-2025:

“To lead and support Eastleigh Borough and its communities: developing 
a strong and sustainable economy that supports improved standards of 
living for residents; promoting thriving and healthy communities; and 
maintaining an attractive and sustainable environment that residents 
value.”

1.3 Relevant Corporate Plan objectives include the objective of Tackling 
Deprivation; the Council will give due consideration to this objective in 
carrying out its enforcement activity.

1.4 The Council recognises the need for effective and timely enforcement of 
legislation and also recognises the effects of enforcement action on 
individuals and businesses.  

1.5 This document has been prepared with regard to the current principal 
legislation and statutory guidance. 

1.6 This Strategy sets out the Council’s overarching approach to enforcement  
which seeks a balanced approach to minimise harms, promote wellbeing 
and prosperity and prevent breaches where possible.  

1.7 Specific enforcement policies for each service area will set out legislative 
and procedural details for Council staff  to follow and provide guidance as 
appropriate for individuals and businesses being regulated. These 
policies will be published on our website as appropriate.

1.8 By this document and relevant specific enforcement policies the Council 
intends to enable enforcement officers to interpret and apply relevant 
legal requirements and enforcement policies fairly and consistently.

1.9 The Council undertakes enforcement activity in accordance with our 
statutory responsibilities on behalf of the public  at large and not in the 
interests of any particular individual, business or group. 

1.10 Commercialism

1.11 The Council will seek to recover any costs it can through enforcement.

1.12 The Council will consider carefully options to outsource enforcement 

82



activity to a commercial partner at this time. Where the Council uses 
outside agencies the Council will retain control and accountability for the 
way the service is delivered. 

2 SCOPE AND MEANING OF ‘ENFORCEMENT’

2.1 This Strategy applies to all the legislation enforced by officers of all 
regulatory and enforcement services of Eastleigh Borough Council.

2.2 ‘Enforcement’ includes any criminal or civil action taken by officers aimed 
at ensuring that individuals or businesses comply with the law.  The 
Council will ensure that its own enforcement officers interpret and apply 
their legal requirements and enforcement policies consistently and fairly.

3 UNDERLYING PRINCIPLES

3.1 Our principles are informed by The Regulators’ Code which took effect on 
6 April 2014, the Enforcement Concordat, and the Guidance of the Better 
Regulation Delivery Office (BRDO) as to how to apply these documents.

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/regulators-code
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/ld199899/ldselect/lddereg/111/1110
7.htm

4 DECISION MAKING

4.1 In all cases the Council will strive to ensure that enforcement decisions 
are always fair and consistent, and in compliance with statutory 
requirements and legal guidance.

4.2 The decision to take formal enforcement action will be made by officers in 
accordance with the Council’s Constitution.  

5 NOTIFYING ALLEGED OFFENDERS

5.1 If we receive information, for example from a complainant, that may lead 
to formal enforcement action we will notify the alleged offender as soon 
as is practicable of the position, unless this could impede an investigation 
or pose a safety risk to those concerned or the general public or where 
notification would defeat the purpose of the enforcement action.

5.2 Personal data will only be used in accordance with the relevant data 
protection legislation.  Our Privacy Notices detailing how we use personal 
data may be found at https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/privacy.

6 ENFORCEMENT OPTIONS

The Council prefers to secure compliance with legislation by a process of 
education and encouragement and will, wherever appropriate and 
possible, informally work with the resident or business to rectify breaches 

83

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/regulators-code
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/ld199899/ldselect/lddereg/111/11107.htm
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/ld199899/ldselect/lddereg/111/11107.htm
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/privacy


of legislation.  However, it will sometimes be necessary for more formal 
action to be taken. 

6.1 The main enforcement areas are listed at Appendix A with further detail 
given at Appendix B of this policy. 

6.2 Business operating in more than one local authority area

Where a business operates in more than one Local Authority area and 
has chosen to have a registered Primary Authority Partnership under The 
Regulatory Enforcement and Sanctions (RES) Act the Council will, where 
required, comply with the agreement provisions for enforcement.

6.3 Liaison and Partnership with other regulatory bodies and 
enforcement agencies

The Council will, where appropriate, cooperate and coordinate with any 
relevant regulatory body and/or enforcement agencies that have a joint or 
complementary enforcement role to maximise the effectiveness of any 
enforcement and to ensure a consistent and coordinated approach. 

We will share intelligence with other enforcement agencies in accordance 
with relevant data protection legislation.  These bodies include -
a) Government Agencies.
b) Police Forces.
c) Fire Authorities.
d) Health agencies in the public sector
e) Statutory undertakers.
f) Other Local Authorities.

7. EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES AND PROTECTION OF HUMAN 
RIGHTS

The Council has a duty to eliminate discrimination, promote equality of 
opportunity and promote good relations between different people and 
groups.  The Council will give appropriate consideration to these duties in 
the way it carries out enforcement activity.

The Council will give due consideration to issues of incapacity or 
vulnerability, and seek appropriate solutions. Each case is dependent 
upon its own particular facts. Where there is no substantiated evidence of 
vulnerability or incapacity, the Council will pursue enforcement action in 
the usual way. 

The Council’s enforcement role and duties apply inclusively across all 
community groups and geographic neighbourhoods. 

The Council will identify patterns of demand and impact and consider 

84



whether collective, community-based measures may be appropriate in 
order to prevent incidents and their impact on certain groups. 

Equality and Diversity issues will differ between different types of 
enforcement. Policies and Business Plans for specific enforcement areas 
will address possible specific equality impacts.

8. PUBLICITY AND COMMUNICATIONS

Whilst not a direct form of enforcement,  officers may seek to raise 
awareness and increase compliance levels by publicising details of 
evidence of unlawful practice and any action taken.

The Council encourages residents to play a role in solving problems in 
the community and residents should feel reassured that the Council will 
take the appropriate action if they make the effort to refer a problem. The 
Council will publicise its enforcement activity from time to time as a way of 
informing and reassuring residents, and demonstrating value for money. 

Where appropriate, services will communicate with parties that have 
made an enforcement service request or submitted a complaint, to 
feedback on action taken to resolve the enforcement issue.

Many communities and stakeholders care about and identify with their 
local area (village, town, local centre) and many enforcement issues have 
a strong local community dimension.  Services will liaise with Local Area 
Managers and Parish/Town Councils to help inform the local significance 
of enforcement issues, agree appropriate local communications and 
funding, where appropriate.

9. STATUS OF THIS STRATEGY

This Strategy is intended to provide guidance for enforcement officers, 
businesses, consumers and the public. Each case will be considered on 
its own merits and circumstances having regard to this Strategy and local 
service policies and procedures.

This Strategy will be the subject of consultation with other Hampshire 
local authorities, statutory external agencies such as the Police and Fire 
and Rescue Service, local business organisations and representatives as 
well as public consultation on the Council website.

This Strategy will be reviewed annually by relevant Lead Specialists.  It 
is proposed that the Corporate Director for Strategy be authorised to 
reapprove the Strategy annually and make minor amendments to the 
adopted Strategy as required.

85



6

APPENDIX A AREAS OF ENFORCEMENT ACTIVITY LIST

Environment
• Fly-tipping and enviro-crime (e.g. litter, flyposting, graffiti)
• Untidy land
• Noise and other statutory nuisance
• Dog fouling/Dangerous Dogs/Stray dogs
• Animal welfare and Tethered horses
• Parking – on-street and off-street
• Licensing
• Abandoned vehicles
• Air and water pollution
• Pest control/public health 
• Waste carrier licences and waste transfer notes
• High hedges

Health and Wellbeing
• Private rented sector housing
• Houses in multiple occupation (HMO) licencing
• Empty dwellings
• Caravan site licensing
• Community safety/Anti-Social Behaviour
• Smoking in public places 
• Public urination

Housing and Development
• Planning enforcement including Tree Preservation Orders
• Building control

 
Economy 

• Food hygiene 
• Health and safety at work
• Council Tax and Business Rates collection
• Licensing
• Unauthorised leaflet distribution

This list is not an exhaustive list.

Individual Service Areas will be producing bespoke enforcement policies to reflect their 
individual enforcement roles and responsibilities

86



7

APPENDIX B TYPES OF ENFORCEMENT ACTIVITY DETAIL

6.4.1   Prevention
The first step in enforcement is to promote good practice, ensure policy compliance 
and prevent contravention of the law by raising awareness and promoting good 
practice.

This approach will be applied when we are not aware of any specific contraventions of 
the law.

6.4.2     Approvals, Consents and Licences
We provide a range of approvals consents and licences as specified by individual 
pieces of legislation.   Most of these are compulsory, but a few are optional.  These 
are an important part of the preventative aspect of our work.

We will work with applicants to help them to understand what is required to gain 
approval through pre-application advice, published guidelines, and post- application 
discussion.

Applicants, or their agents, will always be notified, in writing, of the outcome of their 
application, including the reasons if rejected.  Details of any rights of appeal will be 
provided at the time the decision is notified.

6.4.3     Informal Action
If appropriate, we will endeavour to resolve situations without resorting to formal 
enforcement action.

Informal action may involve offering advice, mediation where appropriate, requests for 
action, or warnings, or seeking and monitoring the delivery of undertakings or 
timetabled schedules of action.  General advice will not necessarily be confirmed in 
writing.  Where more than the most minor contravention exists, we will confirm the 
situation in writing in a clear manner and explain why any recommendations are 
necessary and over what timescale they should be met.  When we write we will 
make sure that legal requirements are clearly distinguished from recommendations.  
Informal action will be supported throughout by contact between the customer and 
Council officers.

This approach may be applied provided that the consequences of non- compliance are 
considered acceptable.

6.4.4     Formal Action
Circumstances where formal action will be considered include (but are not restricted 
to):

 There is a significant contravention of legislation

87



8

 The wording of legislation requires the Council to take a specified action
 An informal approach has failed
 The   consequences   of   non-compliance, for health, safety, the environment, 

or other Council priorities, are unacceptable and/or immediate
 Effective action needs to be taken quickly in order to remedy conditions which 

are deteriorating
 Formal action is necessary to achieve the desired outcome without incurring 

expense or inconvenience that is disproportionate to the risks
 A charge applied by a Fixed Penalty Notice has not been paid

6.4.5     Statutory Notices
Many of the various pieces of legislation that we enforce provide for the service of 
“statutory notices” on  individuals,  businesses  and  other organisations requiring 
them to meet specific legal obligations.

Where a “statutory notice” is served, the method of appealing against the notice and 
the timescale for doing so will be provided in writing at the same time. In most 
cases, failure to comply with a “statutory notice” will result in more severe formal 
action being taken.

6.4.6 Fixed  Penalty  Notices  and  Penalty  Charge  Notices  (Civil  & Criminal)
These are notices that apply a penalty for specific matters. 

In general a penalty notice will only be issued when:

• there is sufficient evidence that an offence has been committed
• an FPN is a proportionate response allowed for by the relevant legislation

  A penalty notice will not be issued if:

• there is no offence committed
• enforcement action is inappropriate or would be disproportionate
• prosecution is more suitable

6.4.7    Work In Default

In general, it is the responsibility of others to achieve compliance with the law.  In certain 
cases the Council may undertake work to achieve compliance on behalf of others, and 
may seek a warrant to gain entry to land or premises to do so.   

In these cases the Council’s costs will be recovered from the responsible person.  If the 
costs cannot be recovered, they will usually be placed as a charge against the property, 
to be recovered at a later date.

6.4.8    Cautions
A simple caution may be issued as an alternative to a prosecution. Cautions may be 
issued to:

88



9

• deal quickly and simply with less serious offences;
• divert less serious offences away from the courts; or
• reduce the chances of repeat offences.

To safeguard the suspected offender's interests the following conditions will be fulfilled 
before a caution is administered:

• there must be sufficient evidence to give a realistic prospect of conviction; and
• the suspected offender must admit the offence; and
• the suspected offender must understand the significance of a caution and give an 

informed consent to being cautioned.

Where the offer  of a caution is refused, a prosecution will generally be pursued.

A central register of cautions administered will be maintained.

6.4.9     Prosecution

The Council recognises that the decision to prosecute is significant with potentially far 
reaching consequences on the individual or organisation concerned. The decision to 
prosecute is taken by the Borough’s Head of Legal Services. 

All relevant evidence and information will be considered before deciding upon a 
prosecution in order to enable a consistent, fair and objective decision to be made. 
The Council will have regard to the Code for Crown Prosecutors, and will consider 
whether:

 there is sufficient standard evidence for there to be a realistic prospect of 
conviction; and

 the prosecution is in the public interest;

In deciding whether to prosecute, the Council will make an overall assessment based 
on the individual circumstances of each case.

Where there has been a breach of the law leading to a work-related death, the Council 
will liaise with the Police, Coroner, Health and Safety Executive and the Crown 
Prosecution Service, as appropriate

6.4.10  Proceeds of Crime

Where appropriate the Council will consider the use of the Proceeds of Crime Act 
2002. The Proceeds of Crime Act allows Local Authorities to recover assets that have 
been accrued through criminal activity.

89



This page is intentionally left blank



POLICY & PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

WEDNESDAY 22 JANUARY 2020

 PLANNING ENFORCEMENT PERFORMANCE  

REPORT OF THE HEAD OF HOUSING AND DEVLEOPMENT

Recommendation

It is recommended that Policy and Performance Scrutiny Committee members note 
the positive enhancements to the delivery of the Planning Enforcement service and 
the improving performance. 

Summary

In October 2019 the Eastleigh Borough Council Local Planning Enforcement Policy was 
presented to Policy and Performance Scrutiny Committee.  The Policy provided for greater 
performance monitoring across the planning enforcement service, which Councillors 
wished to review in more detail at a subsequent committee meeting.  Since April 2019, 
performance monitoring has been reviewed by the Head of Housing and Development to 
improve management and is also reported to the Director of the Service Delivery 
Directorate on a monthly and quarterly basis.  It is pleasing to report that performance has 
increased consistently over the last 9 months.

Statutory Powers

Town and Country Planning Act (1990)

Strategic Implications 

1. The Local Planning Enforcement Policy provides a robust basis on which to 
ensure development within the Borough is brought forward as planned and 
provides clarity on the measures that can be taken to address breaches of 
planning legislation where it is harmful to the environment and public amenity. 
The Policy plays a significant part in addressing three strategic priorities of:

 Excellent environment for all
 Enabling healthier lifestyles / wellbeing
 Increased provision and more diverse mix of housing

91

Agenda Item 8



Eastleigh Borough Council

Introduction

2. Effective enforcement is important to maintain public confidence in the 
planning system.  Enforcement action is discretionary, and local planning 
authorities should act proportionately in responding to suspected breaches of 
planning control.  The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
recommends Local Planning Authorities (LPA) provide clarity on their 
enforcement powers and clearly set out how alleged planning breaches will be 
investigated within an enforcement plan. 

3. Confidence in the planning system is underpinned by a robust and timely 
approach to enforcement, including performance monitoring to enable the 
quality of the service to be evaluated.  Since autumn 2018, improvements in 
monitoring and reporting of planning enforcement performance have been 
introduced which demonstrate an encouraging improvement in Planning 
Enforcement performance. 

Planning Enforcement - an improving service

4. The Planning Enforcement Service was subject to a review in the summer of 
2018 and improvements introduced to deliver a more effective, efficient and 
resilient service.  The following measures have been put in place to enhance 
the planning enforcement performance:

 The specialist enforcement team has increased from 2 to 3 officers with 
the creation of a Senior Enforcement Officer post. 

 The Local Planning Enforcement Policy has been updated and expanded 
to include performance targets on a variety of areas including speed of site 
visit and closure of cases according to priority level. 

 The management of the end to end process of the lower priority cases 
(priority level 3 and 4) within the Localities team allows the Specialist 
Enforcement Officers to dedicate more time to the higher priority cases (P1 
and P2) and for lower priority cases to be reviewed and actioned more 
swiftly.

 Working with the Legal Team to introduce a more robust and efficient 
approach to enforcement action via a variety of methods including 
introducing stricter timescales for alleged offenders to submit information / 
remedy breaches and also the serving of Notices more swiftly rather than 
entering into protracted negotiations that can delay matters. 

 Weekly reporting of the number of live cases and the division of cases 
between the Localities Team and Enforcement Specialists is circulated to 
staff and Councillors. 

 Introduction of monthly and quarterly Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) 
on the speed of site visits, the number of cases closed and the number of 
Notices served. 

 Production of a quarterly report on performance statistics and narrative on 
the enforcement activities for the preceding quarter.  This report includes 
information for that quarter on:

o Number of new cases registered, 

92



Eastleigh Borough Council

o Number of cases closed and reasons for closing them
o The location of the alleged breach or breach by Parish area
o The number of proactive condition monitoring cases
o Performance against Key Performance Indicator targets
o Number of formal action cases
o Updates on enforcement appeals
o Updates on prosecutions
o Updates on staffing matters.

5. The performance monitoring information is used by the Senior Enforcement 
Officer and the Head of Housing and Development to actively manage 
performance of the Service.  The report for quarter 3 (Sept – Dec 2019) is 
attached for reference (appendix 1). (Note: the staffing text has been removed 
for confidentiality reasons). 

Planning Enforcement – performance reporting

6. Appendix 2 provides statistics on the number of cases reported / closed from 
2014 as well as more detailed performance information for 2018/19 and 
2019/20. 

7. Key headlines on the performance of the enforcement service are 
summarised below:

a. Cases per year 

2014/15 2018/19 Increase

Cases Registered 290 455 57%

Cases Concluded 333 469 41%

8. The increase in cases from 2014/15 to 2018/19 can be attributed to an 
increase in reported breaches and enforcement staff formally registering all 
breaches rather than addressing some cases informally. More cases are 
concluded than received as a back log of cases is reduced. 

9. A further 10% increase is expected in 2019/20 for both statistics compared to 
2018/19. Appendix 2; Table 1, charts 1a – c and charts 2a - c provide further 
annual information. 

10. The table below provides a breakdown of why cases are concluded for the 
year to date. Appendix 2, table 4 drills down further in to which parish the 
breach is reported to be within.

93



Eastleigh Borough Council

Reasons for closing a case %

No planning breach 40

Breach resolved 28

Breach passed to Development Management Team or other 
agency

18

Other 14

b. Number of live cases 

When the Council was restructured in November 2017, on average there were 
210 live enforcement cases divided equally between enforcement specialists 
(priority 1 and 2s) and the Localities Team (priority 3 and 4s).  Many of these 
cases had been live for a considerable amount of time undermining the faith 
in the planning system.  Whilst the number of cases reported each year has 
increased the number of live cases has reduced significantly to 153 cases 
(week commencing 06/01/20) of which 84 cases are with enforcement 
specialists and 69 cases are with the Localities Team.  The reduction in live 
cases can be attributed to staff acting on complaints in a more efficient 
manner in line with the revised policy. Appendix 2 Table 2 provides further 
information.  

c. Number of Notices Served

Between 2014/15 and 2016/17 a total of 10 Notices were served in respect of 
breaches or alleged breaches of the planning.  Of these, only 1 was an 
Enforcement Notice requiring specific actions to be taken to remedy a breach. 
Adopting a more robust approach to planning enforcement has witnessed a 
considerable rise in notices being served, including Enforcement Notices, with 
16 Notices served in 2017/18 (7 Enforcement Notices) and 31 Notices served 
in 2018/19 (5 Enforcement Notices).  In the first 9 months of 2019/20, this 
trend continues with 21 Notices being served including 5 Enforcement 
Notices. Appendix 2, Table 3 provides further annual information and table 12 
for 2019/20.  

d. Site visits timescales – performance improved.

A new performance measure introduced in the last 12 months is the time 
taken for staff to visit the site to investigate an alleged breach.  An overall 
target of 80% has been set for conducting an initial site visits within the 
relevant timescale for each priority. Site visit performance to date in 2019/20 
is summarised in the table below.  Note that Priority 4 cases are desk-based 
assessments and do not always require a site visit:

94



Eastleigh Borough Council

Priority Target days No of cases % within target

Priority 1 1 42 76%

Priority 2 10 104 77%

Priority 3 20 226 83%

The overall target is met for priority 3 cases but performance dips just under 
the target for priority 1 and 2 cases. For quarter 3 of 2019/20, there was a 
drop in performance for priority 1 and 2 cases in October 2019 which 
coincided with the loss of an experienced enforcement officer; this has been 
addressed with recruitment to the vacant post. Appendix 2, Tables 7, 9 and 11 
provides further information for 2019/20. 

e. Concluding cases within timescale 

An ambitious overall target of 80% has been set for concluding enforcement 
cases within the relevant timescale for each priority. This Key Performance 
Indicator has averaged at 56.5% for the year to date. 

Priority Target days No of cases % within target

Priority 1 30 42 66.7%

Priority 2 90 104 58.7%

Priority 3 42 226 54.4%

Priority 4 42 12 41.6%

11. The target of 80% has been achieved for some priorities within a specific 
month but it has not been achieved consistently for all priorities within either a 
month or quarter. However, it is encouraging that the higher priority cases 
where unlawful development can cause serious harm to amenity are 
performing best. Appendix 2, Tables 6, 8 and 10 provides further information 
for 2019/20.

12. The performance on concluded cases is against a background of an increase 
in formal Notices being served and an increase in appeals lodged which are 
resource and time hungry.  Whilst the specialist team was expanded to three 
members of staff in late summer of 2019 through with the internal appointment 
of a localities officer, the team lost an experienced enforcement specialist in 
October.  This loss of an experience member of staff and the introduction of a 
new members of staff resulted in the Senior Enforcement Officer covering 
both staff development and the highest priority cases which in turn would have 
impacted on the overall performance of the team. With this vacant post now 

95



Eastleigh Borough Council

recruited to it is anticipated that performance will begin to increase over the 
coming months. 

13. The statistics and performance figures portray an increase in the number of 
breaches investigated and a more robust delivery of the enforcement but 
further improvements to the service can still be made to meet the ambitious 
target set for the closure of cases.  

Financial Implications

14. There are no additional financial implications arising from this performance 
reporting

Risk Assessment

15. There are no risks in noting the performance measures which have been 
developed after careful consideration of best practice, legislative requirements 
and council resources. 

Equality and Diversity Implications

16. The Equality Act is not relevant to the decision in this report as the decision 
does not relate to eliminating discrimination, advancing equality of opportunity, 
or fostering good relations between different people.  An Equality Impact 
Assessment has not been carried out. 

Conclusion

17. Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel supported the recent launch of the 
updated Local Planning Enforcement Policy and asked for a more detailed 
report to be prepared on the performance of the Council’s planning 
enforcement service. The Local Planning Enforcement Policy includes Key 
Performance Indicators whilst other performance indicators and statistics are 
collected and reviewed on a weekly. Monthly and quarterly basis. 

18. There has been a year on year increase in the number of reported breaches 
of planning. In response to the need to deliver a more robust planning 
enforcement service, cases are being concluded quicker resulting in a 
reduction in the number of live cases. This in turn has seen a significant 
increase in the number of formal Notices issued, including Enforcement 
Notices and at times the lodging of appeals, which are all resource hungry. In 
more recent months, whist the planning enforcement specialists team has 
been expanded, the loss of an experienced enforcement officer has directly 
impacted on the team’s ability to conclude the higher priority cases as swiftly 
as would be desired. 

19. It is recommended that the Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel note the 
improving performance of the planning enforcement function 

ANDY GRANDFIELD

96



Eastleigh Borough Council

HEAD OF HOUSING AND DEVELOPMENT 

Date: 13 January 2020
CONTACT OFFICER: ANDY GRANDFIELD 
Tel No: 023 8068 8267
e-mail: andy.grandfield@eastleigh.gov.uk
Appendices Attached: 2

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information.

* List Background Papers - None.

97



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1

Eastleigh Borough Council

Specialist Services

 Housing & Development

Planning Enforcement

Quarterly Report

(Quarter 3)

1 October – 31 December 2019

99



Appendix 1

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1.This report seeks to provide a summary of the work undertaken, by the Enforcement 
Specialists and Local Response team across the Eastleigh borough relating to Planning 
Enforcement, for the period of 1 October to 31 December 2019. It reports the third 
quarterly statistics contributing to the work undertaken in the financial year of 2019/20, as 
well as a comparison of other relevant statistical data.

2. NUMBER OF NEW COMPLAINTS

2.1.The work of the enforcement team remains principally reactive to complaints and queries 
from Members, Parish Councils, staff and the public about alleged breaches of planning 
control. Team members, however, also have a number of cases which include proactive 
monitoring and engagement into planning matters. During the third quarter of 2019/20, a 
total of 124 new cases were registered in the Borough compared to 107 for the same 
period in 2018/19 – a rise of 14%. The distribution of these cases received across this 
period is illustrated in Figure 1 below and compares the data of the third quarter in 
2018/19.

14 14 15 15
18 19

22
24

18

28

22 22

Oct Nov Dec Oct Nov Dec
0

5

10

15

20

25

30

Enforcement Specialists
Local Response

2018/19     2019/20

3. NUMBER OF CASES CLOSED

100



Appendix 1
3.1.The Enforcement Specialists & Local Response team concluded 109 cases during the third 

quarter of 2019/20 compared to 129 in 2018/19 – a fall of 15%. This figure includes a 
number of highly complex cases, both new and a few brought forward from the past twelve 
months. The distribution of cases closed is illustrated in Figure 2 below and compares the 
data with the third quarter of 2018/19.

25

13 11 12
16 16

24

38

18 17 17
20

Oct Nov Dec Oct Nov Dec
0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Enforcement Specialists
Local Response

   2018/19        2019/20

3.2.The number of cases closed across the Parishes 1 October – 31 December 2019;

Parish Apr -
Jun

Jul - 
Sep

Oct - 
Dec

Total 
so far

Allbrook & North Boyatt Parish Council 1 2 1 4

Bishopstoke Parish Council 12 11 11 34

Botley Parish Council 2 8 5 15

Bursledon Parish Council 7 10 9 26

Chandlers Ford Parish Council 33 34 26 93

Hamble-Le-Rice Parish Council 5 3 7 15

Hedge End Town Council 16 14 10 40

Hound Parish Council 15 9 2 26

Eastleigh 20 8 13 41

Fair Oak & Horton Heath 18 14 11 43

West End Parish Council 18 11 14 43

Outside of Borough 0 0 0 0
101



Appendix 1
TOTAL 147 124 109 380

3.3.An enforcement case can be considered closed for a number of reasons, as shown in 
Table 2. The proportion of each reason type is also provided within this table.

No. 
closed

% Reason Explanation

45 41% No Breach Development subject of the complaint or 
enquiry had;

a. The benefit of planning permission
b. Fell with ‘Permitted Development’ 

tolerances; or
c. Did not constitute ‘development’ within 

the meaning of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990.

32 29% Breach Resolved The enquiry/complaint has been resolved
21 19% Passed to Other 

Agency
Issue being investigated by other agency 
such as Environment Agency, Hampshire 
County Council etc.
A retrospective application has been 
received and is being dealt with by the 
Planning department – a new Reason for 
Closure will be created in January 2020 to 
show Retrospective Applications separate 
to Passed to Other Agency.

7 7% Not Expedient Where a decision has been made that it 
would not be expedient to pursue formal 
enforcement action. 

1 1% Permission Granted Planning permission had already been 
granted.

3 3% Duplicate The issue is already being dealt with under 
another Enforcement reference number.

Table 2: Cases closed during Quarter 3 – 2019/20

3.4.The conclusions drawn on the cases closed during the third quarter of 2019/20 are 
illustrated within Figure 3.

102



Appendix 1

45

32

21

7

1

3

No Breach
Breach Resolved
Passed to Other Agency
Not Expedient
Permission Granted
Duplicate

Closed Cases

Figure 3: The conclusion of cases in the third quarter 1 October – 31 December 2019.
3.5. In the case of ‘Not Expedient’, the breach has been considered against the planning 

policies contained within the Eastleigh Borough Council Local Plan 2001-2011, the 
emerging Local Plan 2016-2036 and other material considerations such as National 
Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG).

As such, it was concluded that it would be inappropriate to take formal enforcement action, 
against these specific breaches, as the breach is either trivial or causes minimal harm in 
planning terms.

This can be for a variety of reasons for example, an extension that is 10cm higher than 
allowed under Permitted Development, untidy land where it is not considered significantly 
detrimental to the neighbourhood amenity etc.

4. CONDITION MONITORING

4.1.Of the 109 cases closed, 1 of these was a Condition Monitoring case;

 E/16/16173 – Goslings Turning, Orchard Lodge, Providence Hill, Bursledon (BHH)

4.2.Condition monitoring cases are not included in the KPI statistics within section 6 of this 
report as they are invariably lengthy investigations that include multiple phases of 
monitoring over significant periods of time and would fall outside of the priority target dates.

5. RETROSPECTIVE APPLICATIONS

5.1.During the third quarter of 2019/20, 5 applications were registered as being retrospective 
or containing a retrospective element arising from an enforcement investigation. They 
related to a mix of outbuildings, change of use and addition of a first floor window. Of these 
applications, all 5 (100%) have been approved. These applications generated income of 
£1286. The running figure for 2019/20 is £7390.

103



Appendix 1

6. PERFORMANCE AGAINST KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

6.1.Eastleigh Borough Council has a number of Key Performance Indicators (KPI’s) relating to 
Planning Enforcement. The first is to conclude 80% of planning enforcement complaints 
within 3 months of receipt. Performance against this target was 46% for the third quarter. 

6.2.The second KPI relates to concluding cases specific to their priority – target 80% (please 
see table below);

Priority Target Cases Closed Within
Target

Outside 
Target

%

P1 30 days 10 6 4 60%
P2 90 days 27 17 10 63%
P3 42 days 69 32 37 46%
P4 42 days 2 0 2 0%

For P1 cases, we had a number of investigations that required consultations with other 
departments, interviews under caution had to be arranged and carried out and retrospective 
applications were to be submitted – all of which led to our investigations not meeting the 30 
day target.

P2 – Seven of these cases that failed to hit the target were historic cases that have involved 
lengthy investigations. Of the remaining ten, some were site reviews over a period of a few 
months and others involved Legal intervention. 

6.3.The third KPI relates to the investigating officer carrying out the initial site visit within a 
particular time – target 80% (please see table below);

Priority Target Cases Closed Within
Target

Outside 
Target

%

P1 1 working 
day

10 7 3 70%

P2 10 working 
days

27 21 6 78%

P3 20 working 
days

69 61 8 88%

* Site visits for P4 cases are only carried out if required following a desktop assessment and are therefore not targeted.

7. FORMAL ACTION

7.1.During the third quarter of 2019/20, 3 formal Notices were served compared to 5 for the 
same quarter in 2018/19;

Enforcement Notice - 0
Breach of Condition Notice - 0
Stop/Temp Stop Notice - 0104



Appendix 1
Planning Contravention Notice - 0
Section 215 Notice - 0
Section 330 Notice - 3

8. ENFORCEMENT APPEALS

8.1.During this quarter, 1 enforcement appeal decision has been issued by the Planning 
Inspectorate, during this quarter. This related to case E/16/16252 at Seddul Bahr, Allington 
Lane, Fair Oak and an Enforcement Notice served stating ‘Unauthorised Change of Use 
from agricultural to storage & distribution.’ The appeal was allowed on 16 December and 
costs awarded to the appellant.
 

8.2.3 appeals have been validated by the Planning Inspectorate during this quarter;

 Little Hatts Recreation Ground, Botley (Enforcement Notice for unauthorised fencing 
in excess of 1m adjacent to the highway)

 20 Corinthian Road, Chandlers Ford (Enforcement Notice for unauthorised fencing in 
excess of 1m adjacent to the highway)

 Twelve Acres, Woodhouse Lane, Hedge End (s215 Notice for untidy land)

8.3.As of 31 December 2019, we have 5 appeals ongoing;

REF LOCATION NOTICE & BREACH OFF STATUS
E/16/16309 4 New Road, N/A EN – Unauthorised side 

extension
PW Awaiting 

start date
ENF/2019/279 20 Corinthian 

Road, C/F
EN - Unauthorised fencing JS Start date 

10/10/19
PI visit 
27/1/20

E/15/15959 Little Hatts, BOT EN – Unauthorised 
Operational Development 

(Metal framed building & Tree 
House)

PW Awaiting 
start date

E/15/15959 Little Hatts, BOT EN – Unauthorised Change 
of Use (Agricultural Use to 
mixed use of Agriculture, 
Equestrian, stationing of 

caravans and non-agricultural 
business use and storage)

PW Awaiting 
start date

ENF/2018/319 Peewit Hill, BUR EN – Unauthorised container PW PI visit 
10/12. 

Awaiting 
decision

9. PROSECUTIONS

9.1.A prosecution for non-compliance with an Enforcement Notice for a property in Bursledon 
commenced in October 2019. The case was adjourned on 22 October as only one of the 

105



Appendix 1
two defendants was in attendance. Before the new court date, the owners of the property 
carried out the works requested within the Enforcement Notice, a compliance check was 
carried out and the prosecution subsequently withdrawn.

10.TEAM MATTERS

NAME:
DATE:

106



Appendix 2

Enforcement Performance Q1 – 3   2019/20

Number of reported breaches and closed cases per year

2019/20* 2018/19 2017/18 2016/17 2015/16 2014/15
New Rec'd 379 455 424 424 404 290

Closed 387 469 418 415 385 333
Table 1

Number of live cases

Priority 1 Priority 2 Priority 3 Priority 4 Total
w/c 
06.01.20

4 74 71 4 153

w/c 
09.01.19

14 80 87 13 194

Table 2

Number of Notices Served 

2019/20* 2018/19 2017/18 2016/17 2015/16 2014/15
Enf. Notices 6 5 7 0 0 1
Stop Notices 1 0 0 0 0 0

Temp Stop Notices 3 0 0 0 0 0
BCN's 1 6 3 0 1 0
PCN's 1 8 3 4 2 1

Remedial Notices 0 0 1 0 0 0
S215 Notices 3 4 1 0 1 0
S330 Notices 6 8 1

Enforcement Appeals 
Decided 3

No. of Notices served 21 31 16 4 4 2

Table 3

107



Appendix 2

Summary of first 3 Quarterly Reports 2019/20

Number of new reported breaches (cases)  (chart 1a - c)

Q1 - 127 new cases compared to 117 for the same period in 2018/19. (chart 1a)

14 15 16 17
11 9

19 23
30

24

42

24

Apr May Jun Apr May Jun
0

10

20

30

40

50

Enforcement 
Specialists
Local Response

2018/19 2019/20

Q2 - 127 new cases compared to 119 for the same period in 2018/19. (chart 1b)

21
17

12
19

14 12

28 26

15

27 24
30

Jul Aug Sept Jul Aug Sept
0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

Enforcement Specialists
Local Response

2018/19 2019/20

Q3 124 new cases compared to 107 for the same period in 2018/19 (chart 1c)

14 14 15 15 18 1922 24
18

28
22 22

Oct Nov Dec Oct Nov Dec
0

5

10

15

20

25

30

Enforcement Specialists
Local Response

2018/19 2019/20

108



Appendix 2

Number of cases concluded (chart 2 a -c)

Q1 - concluded 147 cases compared to 95 in 2018/19  (Chart 2a)

5
11

23

14
19 17

9

21
26 26

37 34

Jul Aug Sep Jul Aug Sep
0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Enforcement 
Specialists
Local Response

2018/19 2019/20

Q2 – concluded 127 cases compared to 105 in 2018/19 (chart 2b)

13 14
20

24
15

2320
16

22
18 21

26

Jul Aug Sep Jul Aug Sep
0

5

10

15

20

25

30

Enforcement 
Specialists
Local Response

2018/19 2019/20

Q3 - concluded 109 cases compared to 129 in 2018/19 (Chart 2c)

25

13 11 12
16 16

24

38

18 17 17 20

Oct Nov Dec Oct Nov Dec
0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Enforcement 
Specialists
Local Response

2018/19 2019/20

109



Appendix 2

Breaches raised 2019/20 within each Parish 

Parish
Apr 
-
Jun

Jul 
- 
Sep

Oct 
- 
Dec

Total 
so 
far

Allbrook & North Boyatt Parish 
Council

1 2 1 4

Bishopstoke Parish Council
12 11 11 34

Botley Parish Council
2 8 5 15

Bursledon Parish Council
7 10 9 26

Chandlers Ford Parish Council
33 34 26 93

Hamble-Le-Rice Parish Council
5 3 7 15

Hedge End Town Council
16 14 10 40

Hound Parish Council
15 9 2 26

Eastleigh
20 8 13 41

Fair Oak & Horton Heath
18 14 11 43

West End Parish Council
18 11 14 43

Outside of Borough
0 0 0 0

TOTAL 147 124 109 380

Table 4

110



Appendix 2

Reason cases concluded

No. 
closed

% Reason Explanation

153 40% No Breach Development subject of the complaint or 
enquiry had;

a. The benefit of planning permission

b. Fell with ‘Permitted Development’ 
tolerances; or

c. Did not constitute ‘development’ 
within the meaning of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990.

108 28% Breach Resolved The enquiry/complaint has been resolved

69 18% Passed to Other 
Agency

Issue being investigated by other agency 
such as Environment Agency, Hampshire 
County Council etc.

A retrospective application has been 
received and is being dealt with by the 
Planning department.

39 10% Not Expedient Where a decision has been made that it 
would not be expedient to pursue formal 
enforcement action. 

6 2% Permission Granted Either planning permission had already been 
granted or a retrospective application was 
submitted and approved.

7 2% Duplicate The issue is already being dealt with under 
another Enforcement reference number.

Table 5

111



Appendix 2

Key Performance Indicators

Q1 -  60% of all cases concluded within 3 months of receipt – (target 80%)

Cases concluded

Priority Target Cases Closed Within

Target

Outside 
Target

%

P1 30 days 15 9 6 60%

P2 90 days 34 18 16 53%

P3 42 days 92 60 32 65%

P4 42 days 6 2 4 33%

Table 6

Site Visit Targets

Priority Target Cases Visited Within

Target

Outside 
Target

%

P1 1 working day 15 8 7 53%

P2 10 working 
days

34 27 7 79%

P3 20 working 
days

92 81 11 88%

Table 7 * Site visits for P4 cases are only carried out if required following a desktop assessment and are therefore 
not targeted.

Q2 - 56% of all cases concluded within 3 months of receipt – (target 80%)

Cases Concluded

Priority Target Cases Closed Within

Target

Outside 
Target

%

P1 30 days 17 13 4 76%

P2 90 days 37 24 13 65%

P3 42 days 66 32 34 48%

P4 42 days 4 1 3 25%

Table 8

112



Appendix 2

Site Visit Targets. 

Priority Target Cases Visited Within

Target

Outside 
Target

%

P1 1 working day 17 15 2 88%

P2 10 working 
days

37 30 7 81%

P3 20 working 
days

66 55 11 83%

Table 9 * Site visits for P4 cases are only carried out if required following a desktop 
assessment and are therefore not targeted.

Q3 - 46% of all cases concluded within 3 months of receipt – (target 80%)

Priority Target Cases Closed Within

Target

Outside 
Target

%

P1 30 days 10 6 4 60%

P2 90 days 27 17 10 63%

P3 42 days 69 32 37 46%

P4 42 days 2 0 2 0%

Table 10

Site Visit

Priority Target Cases Visited Within

Target

Outside 
Target

%

P1 1 working day 10 7 3 70%

P2 10 working 
days

27 21 6 78%

P3 20 working 
days

69 61 8 88%

Table 11 * Site visits for P4 cases are only carried out if required following a desktop 
assessment and are therefore not targeted.

113



Appendix 2

Formal Action

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4
Enforcement 
Notice

4 3 0

Breach of 
Condition 
Notice

0 1 0

Stop/Temp 
Stop Notice

2 2 0

Planning 
Contravention 
Notice

1 0 0

Section 215 
Notice

1 2 0

Section 330 
Notice

3 2 3

Table 12

114



Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel – 2019/20

History
Date Author Comments

2 Jan 2020 RG Updated following cancelled sessions, based on discussions between NW, DB and RG in November

Work Programme
Date of 
Meeting

Item for Consideration Focus for Scrutiny Additional Attendance 
By

MAY
30/05

Parking Policy Pre-decision scrutiny Jason Light

JUL
10/07

Environment Portfolio (1)
Climate Change & 
Biodiversity

Cllr Kyrle

Quarterly Corporate & 
Financial Monitoring Report

Gaetana Wiseman/Andy 
Smith

Homelessness Prevention 
Strategy

Ross McClean

SEP
05/09

Transport Portfolio Cllr Airey

115

A
genda Item

 9



OCT
22/10

Environment Portfolio (2)
Waste & Recycling

Scrutiny of Performance and Policy; inc plans for waste 
collection in new developments 

Cllr Kyrle
Paul Naylor

Recycling Paul Naylor

Climate Change Strategy & 
Action Plan

Pre-decision scrutiny Jason Light

Residents Survey Diccon Bright/Jade Mizen
Quarterly Corporate & 
Financial Monitoring Report

Gaetana Wiseman/Andy 
Smith

NOV
18/11

Health & Wellbeing 
Portfolio
Review of Places Leisure Performance against original success criteria, future plans, 

impact on health and wellbeing
Janine Pickering/Ross 
McClean

Staff turnover and other HR 
issues

DEC
09/12

Social Policy/Tackling 
Deprivation Portfolio

Cllr Campbell
Ross McClean

Houses in Multiple 
Occupation

Ross McClean

Eastleigh Borough Council’s 
Air Quality Action Plan

To scrutinise results of consultation on EBCs new Air Quality 
Action Plan ahead of Cabinet decision in January 2020.

Cali Sparks/Isabel 
Hessey

JAN
22/01/20

Air Quality To review the air quality action plan and make 
recommendations to Cabinet
(Must be first item!)

Cali Sparkes
Isabel Hessey

116



Planning Enforcement To review performance of the planning enforcement function, 
including impact of staffing changes in 2018/19

Andy Grandfield
Phil Wiseman

Enforcement Strategy To review the overall enforcement strategy and make 
recommendations to officers and/or Cabinet

Diccon Bright

JAN
30/01/20

Community Safety Review To review the performance of the CS Partnership Melvin Hartley

Sustainable Transport Policy To review the STP and make recommendations to officers 
and/or Cabinet

Cali Sparkes

Additional: Scrutiny improvement workshop to follow up on CfPS training

FEB
06/02/20

General Fund Budget To scrutinise the budget Sarah King

Quarterly Corporate & 
Financial Monitoring Report

Gaetana Wiseman/Andy 
Smith

MAR
12/03/20

Social Policy and Health & 
Wellbeing 

Task and Finish Group reports and recommendations
 Incorporate HMOs

Training to inform?
Housing Discussion to determine focus of T&F group

Training to inform?
Corporate Action Plan Diccon Bright

Additional: Programme planning workshop

Items for 
2020/21

Community Safety Review

117



Quarterly Corporate & Financial Monitoring Report (3rd week of June 2020)

Asset Management Strategy

118



EASTLEIGH BOROUGH COUNCIL
FORWARD PLAN: January 2020 to April 2020

This Forward Plan sets out matters which may be considered by Cabinet in the four month period. It includes items on which a “key 
decision” is likely to be taken.

A KEY DECISION IS - An executive decision (whether or not taken by the Cabinet) which is likely to:

(1) result in the Council incurring expenditure or making savings which amount to either £50,000 or 20% (whichever is the 
larger) of the gross expenditure budget for the service or general function to which the decision relates; or

(2) be significant in terms of its effect on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more wards within the 
Borough of Eastleigh.

The Plan also includes matters for likely decision relating to the Council’s policy or budget framework.

KEY ITEM TO BE 
TAKEN BY

DATE 
DECISION TO 

BE TAKEN

PRE-DECISION
SCRUTINY

DESCRIPTION Contact Officer / 
Cabinet Member

22 January 2020

Yes Council Tax Care Leavers 
Policy 

Cabinet  22 Jan 2020  Cabinet will be asked to 
approve a policy to reduce 
the burden of council tax for 
care leavers.

Sarah King, 
Corporate 
Director - 
Support Services 
/ 

Yes Community Infrastructure 
Programme Scheme(s) 
Approval 

Cabinet  22 Jan 2020  To consider and approve 
projects within the 
Community Investment 
Programme (CIP).

Tom Andrews, 
Finance 
Specialist / 

Yes Property Transactions Cabinet  22 Jan 2020  To consider and approve 
property transactions.

Liz Suatt, Lead 
Asset Manager / 119

A
genda Item

 10



KEY ITEM TO BE 
TAKEN BY

DATE 
DECISION TO 

BE TAKEN

PRE-DECISION
SCRUTINY

DESCRIPTION Contact Officer / 
Cabinet Member

2

18 February 2020

Yes Adoption of the Eastleigh 
Borough Council Air Quality 
Action Plan 2020-2025 

Cabinet  18 Feb 2020  Policy & 
Performance 
Scrutiny Panel

The Cabinet will be asked to 
approve the adoption of the 
Eastleigh Borough Council 
Air Quality Action Plan 
(AQAP), which sets out a 
collection of actions aimed at 
improving air quality across 
the Borough and particularly 
focuses on the Air Quality 
Management Areas 
(AQMAs). The AQAP is a 
Department of Environment, 
Food and Rural Affairs 
(DEFRA) requirement and 
replaces previous AQAPs 
that covered the Eastleigh 
Borough AQMAs. 

Cali Sparks, 
Sustainable 
Transport Senior 
Specialist / 
Cabinet Member 
for Environment

Yes 2020 - 2021 Borough Council 
Budget 

Cabinet  18 Feb 2020  All Pre Decision 
Scrutinies

To consider and recommend 
the 2020 – 2021 Borough 
Council Budget to Council for 
approval.

Sarah King, 
Corporate 
Director - 
Support Services 
/ 

Yes Capital and Treasury Strategy Cabinet  18 Feb 2020  Audit & 
Resources 
Committee

To consider and approve the 
Capital and Treasury 
Strategy.

Tom Andrews, 
Finance 
Specialist / 

120



KEY ITEM TO BE 
TAKEN BY

DATE 
DECISION TO 

BE TAKEN

PRE-DECISION
SCRUTINY

DESCRIPTION Contact Officer / 
Cabinet Member

3

Yes Treasury Management Half 
Year Report 

Cabinet  18 Feb 2020  Audit & 
Resources 
Committee

To consider and approve the 
Treasury Management Half 
Year report.

Andy Smith, 
Finance Lead 
Specialist 
(Deputy Chief 
Financial Officer) 
/ 

Yes Corporate Performance & 
Financial Monitoring 

Cabinet  18 Feb 2020  Policy & 
Performance 
Scrutiny Panel

To consider the quarterly 
report outlining the Council’s 
performance against 
outcomes in the Corporate 
Plan.

Gaetana 
Wiseman, Head 
of Performance 
and Governance 
/ 

Yes Asset Management Strategy Cabinet  18 Feb 2020  Audit & 
Resources 
Committee

Cabinet will be asked to 
consider the Council’s 
proposed Asset 
Management Strategy which 
considers the Council’s 
approach to managing 
property assets.

Liz Suatt, Lead 
Asset Manager / 

Yes Community Investment 
Programme Scheme(s) 
Approval 

Cabinet  18 Feb 2020  To consider and approve 
projects within the 
Community Investment 
Programme (CIP).

Tom Andrews, 
Finance 
Specialist / 

Yes Property Transactions Cabinet  18 Feb 2020  To consider and approve 
property transactions.

Liz Suatt, Lead 
Asset Manager / 

19 March 2020

121



KEY ITEM TO BE 
TAKEN BY

DATE 
DECISION TO 

BE TAKEN

PRE-DECISION
SCRUTINY

DESCRIPTION Contact Officer / 
Cabinet Member

4

Yes Nitrate Neutrality Strategy and 
Action Plan 

Cabinet  19 Mar 2020  Policy & 
Performance 
Scrutiny Panel

This is the Borough Council’s 
short to medium term 
strategy to deliver nitrate 
neutrality for future 
development proposals. The 
Action Plan will set out 
options on how to mitigate 
increased nitrates as a result 
of additional housing 
development. 

 / 

Yes Community Investment 
Programme Scheme(s) 
Approval 

Cabinet  19 Mar 2020  To consider and approve 
projects within the 
Community Investment 
Programme (CIP).

Tom Andrews, 
Finance 
Specialist / 

Yes Property Transactions Cabinet  19 Mar 2020  To consider and approve 
property transactions.

Liz Suatt, Lead 
Asset Manager / 

FOOTNOTES:
Public Participation will apply to enable representations to be made at the time the decision is to be taken.
Written reports for public items will be available as part of the agenda papers and are usually available one week prior to 
the meeting.

Contact Officer: Laura Johnston – Lead Specialist – Democratic Services
Publication Date: 14 January 2020

FIELD_TITLE

FIELD_TITLE

122


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	6 Air Quality Action Plan
	Air Quality Action Plan Appendix 1
	Air Quality Action Plan Appendix 2

	7 Corporate Enforcement Strategy
	Appendix 1 - Corporate Enforcement Strategy

	8 Planning Enforcement Performance
	Appendix 1  -  Enforcement Performance Quarter 3 (1 October to 31 December)
	Appendix 2 - Enforcement Performance Q1 to 3  2019-20

	9 Policy and Performance Scrutiny Panel's Work Programme
	10 Cabinet Forward Plan

